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OUR PURPOSE
At MAG, our role is to connect our customers to  

the world with great airport experiences and 
innovative travel services.

OUR VISION
To be a world-leader in the provision of airport 

facilities and travel services, delivering value 
for all stakeholders.

OUR MISSION
We are on a mission to make our 

airports and travel services the 
number one choice for travellers  

 and airlines.

MAHL
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MAG is the UK’s leading airports group,  
operating Manchester, London Stansted and 
East Midlands Airports, alongside global airport 
services business, CAVU.
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2024 performance highlights

Six months in review
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

REVENUE 

£705.6m
24
23

21
22

20

158.7m

565.2m1

93.8m

535.9m

–  An increase in passenger 
numbers of 4.4m compared to 
the same reporting period  
last year

 
–  Route networks continued to 

strengthen as airlines introduced 
new routes and increased 
capacity across the Group

–  Planning permission secured  
for a terminal extension 
at London Stansted to 
accommodate growing 
passenger numbers

–  Retaining an independent  
five star rating from  
GRESB – a leading  
ESG benchmark  

1 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.

*  As explained in Other information of the financial statements on page 52.

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

£115.9m
24
23

21
22

20

(94.2)m

(148.9)m

120.5m

(236.4)m

ADJUSTED EBITDA*

£346.1m
24
23

21
22

20

25.1m

261.0m

(81.9)m

270.7m
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MANCHESTER
In the first half of FY24, Manchester Airport handled 16.4m passengers, up 14.7% on the same period 
in FY23. It saw its route network grow, and service levels remain high over the peak summer period. 
Manchester continued work on phase two of its £1.3bn transformation programme, with the completion  
of the refurbished Terminal 2 expected in 2025.

Read more on page 09

EAST MIDLANDS 
Between April and September, East Midlands Airport handled 2.7m passengers, a figure up 22.7% on the 
same period last year. Airlines based at East Midlands increased both their capacity and fleet sizes over the 
first six months of this year, with additional routes to popular destinations across Europe. As the UK’s largest 
pure freight operation, East Midlands handled more than 186,000 tonnes of cargo over the period.

Read more on page 09

2.7m
PASSENGERS 

LONDON STANSTED
London Stansted continued to be the fastest recovering UK airport in the first half, serving 15.8m passengers, 
a figure up 12.9% on the same period last year. In July, it became the first major UK airport to see its traffic 
levels reach pre-pandemic levels. Most recently, the airport received planning permission for terminal 
extension, which will allow it to reach its permitted passenger cap of 43.0m passengers per year.

Read more on page 08

15.8m
PASSENGERS

CAVU 
CAVU has reported a strong period of trading for the first six months of this year, 
building on the successful launch of propel™ in April. CAVU’s lounges in airports 
across Europe and North America continue to attract large numbers of guests 
which together with its recent parking acquisition of ParkVia, contributed to a 
year-on-year increase in revenue and profit.

Read more on page 09

16.4m
PASSENGERS
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Chair’s foreword

A positive start 
to the year
I am pleased to be writing this foreword to our 
interim report as the new Chair of MAG, having 
taken on the role after 13 years as CEO.

We entered this new financial year in strong 
shape, with our airports fully-resourced and 
operationally ready to deliver a really positive 
summer season.

Thanks to the partnerships we enjoy with our 
airlines, all of our airports have recovered 
well, and our shared focus on making travel 
as accessible and affordable as possible for 
consumers has been reflected in the passenger 
volumes we handled during the period.

Our drive to give passengers the best possible 
array of products and services to enhance 
and tailor their journeys to their own needs has 
also shone through in our performance at the 
half-year.

Both revenues and adjusted EBITDA* have 
grown strongly year-on-year, leaving us in a 
good position for the remainder of the period.

Operationally, we delivered a good service 
to passengers and airlines throughout the 
summer, and we were happy to receive positive 
feedback in the customer sentiment research we 
regularly carry out. 

We are committed to investing in the future of 
our airports, to drive our growth and economic 
activity across the regions we serve, and have 
continued to do so during the period.

Sustainability remains one of our core focus 
areas, and we are pleased to illustrate real 
progress towards the objectives of our five-
year CSR Strategy both in this report and in 
the comprehensive CSR annual report we 
published in October.

Having handed over the reins to new CEO Ken 
O’Toole, I would like to reiterate my thanks to 
all MAG colleagues for their hard work, not just 
over the past six months but throughout my time 
with the company. 

Charlie Cornish
Chair

*  As explained in Other information of the
financial statements on page 52.
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We are committed to investing in the 
future of our airports, to drive growth 
and economic activity across the regions 
we serve.”

Charlie Cornish
Chair
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Chief Executive’s statement

Firm 
foundations 
for growth
It is my pleasure to be introducing these interim 
results as MAG’s new CEO.

I would like to start by placing on record my 
thanks to Charlie Cornish, who led the business 
for 13 years and has now moved into the role 
of Group Chair.

Under his leadership, MAG achieved 
significant growth – both organically and 
through the acquisition of London Stansted – 
and expanded into new international territories, 
as well as developing an industry-leading CSR 
programme.

Latterly, he guided us through the coronavirus 
pandemic and, at the full-year, we reported a 
strong financial and operational performance in 
what was the first 12 months since the removal 
of Covid-19 travel restrictions. 

In our FY23 Annual Report, we set out our 
strategic priorities, including commitments 
to providing great customer service and 
operational excellence while growing our core 
airports business. We also outlined the positive 
position our airports were in as they headed 
into the summer season, with staff numbers at 
the levels we needed for the peak summer 
months and our teams consistently delivering a 
good level of service to passengers.

Last year’s recovery provided the foundation for 
the Group’s strong performance in the first six 
months of this financial year.

It is essential we extend that service to all our 
passengers, whatever their circumstances. 
We were pleased that all three of our airports 
received the highest possible rating for the 
service they provide to passengers with 
reduced mobility by the Civil Aviation Authority. 
This reflects our commitment to ensuring that 
travel through our airports is as accessible as 
possible. 

Our airports handled 34.9m passengers 
between 1 April and 30 September, which 
was an increase of 4.4m compared to the six 
months ended 30 September 2022. 

This drove a strong income performance, with 
the Group recording revenues of £705.6m 
during the period, which was £140.4m higher 
than the six months ended 30 September 2022.

Whilst passenger performance remained 
slightly below pre-Covid levels at the end of 
the half-year, we were pleased to report that 
the Group exceeded pre-pandemic volumes in 
October.

Our focus on providing customers with a strong 
product mix, and our commitment to working 
with our airline partners to make travel as 
affordable and accessible as possible, resulted 
in a positive performance across all revenue 
streams despite the cost-of-living pressures 
faced by many consumers.
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Our focus is on providing customers with 
a strong product mix and working with 
our airline partners to make travel as 
affordable and accessible as possible.”

Ken O’Toole
Group Chief Executive Officer

REVENUE 

£705.6m
24

565.2m1

93.8m

158.7m

535.9m

23

21
22

20

261.0m

(81.9)m

25.1m

270.7m

ADJUSTED EBITDA*

£346.1m
24
23

21
22

20
*  As explained in Other information of the financial statements on page 52.1 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.
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Chief Executive’s statement continued

Route networks continued to strengthen as 
airlines introduced new routes and increased 
capacity across the Group.

Adjusted EBITDA* stood at £346.1m for the six 
months ended 30 September 2023, growth of 
£85.1m on the equivalent period last year.

Our strategy is also focused on driving growth 
in our airports, something we continued to do 
during the first six months of this financial year. 

We also set out as strategic priorities our 
intention to drive sustainable growth in 
shareholder value, and to play a leading role  
in decarbonising aviation.

In November, we were pleased to receive 
planning permission for an extension to London 
Stansted’s terminal, which will enhance the 
passenger experience and provide us with 
capacity to continue to grow.

The main example of that was the progress we 
made on the second and final phase of our 
Manchester Airport Transformation Programme 
(MAN-TP). The project will complete the 
transformation of Terminal 2, through which 
80% of all Manchester Airport passengers will 
travel upon its completion in 2025. We have 
received excellent feedback from customers 
on phase one and we are confident the 
programme will create a world-class airport 
experience for our passengers and airlines.

Capital programmes are being delivered at 
all three of our airports to accommodate the 
next generation of security equipment, as part 
of a government requirement to introduce the 
technology, which will also deliver significant 
improvements to the passenger experience at 
all UK airports.

Our investment in new infrastructure is supported 
by our long-term borrowing programme, and 
we were pleased in September to raise £360m 
in the UK capital markets through the issuance 
of an 18-year bond. Backed by the majority  
of UK blue-chip institutional investors, the  
bond was four times oversubscribed, which is 
a strong vote of confidence in MAG and our 
investment plans. 

Both those priorities provide the focus for our 
CSR agenda, which we have been pleased to 
make progress on during the past six months, 
including the publication of our new CSR 
Report in October. 

Highlights include Manchester Airport’s 
landmark partnership with HyNet to secure 
a direct supply of zero emissions hydrogen 
fuel, more than 12,000 people supported 
with skills and employment through our Airport 
Academies, and more than £1m in donations to 
local causes through our community funds. You 
can read more about this on page 11.
MAG has also recently retained its five-star 
GRESB ESG rating, and earlier this year 
became the only UK airport operator to be 
named a Financial Times European Climate 
Leader for three successive years.

* As explained in Other information of the financial statements on page 52.
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LONDON STANSTED

In July, London Stansted became the first major 
UK airport to exceed pre-Covid passenger 
volumes when compared with the same month 
in 2019.

Across the six months covered by this report, 
passenger volumes stood at 15.8m, which was 
a 12.9% increase year-on-year. This reflected 
the strong recovery of its main carriers, and 
the excellent choice and value it offers to 
passengers across its catchment.

A number of airlines announced new routes 
during the period, including Jet2.com to 
Morocco, AnadoluJet to Ankara and easyJet 
to Geneva and Zurich, further enhancing 
London Stansted’s position as having the most 
direct connections to Europe of any UK airport. 
Meanwhile, the twice-daily service to Dubai 
with Emirates continues to prove popular with 
travellers, particularly as a way of accessing the 
airline’s network of global destinations. Across 
the six months, 97.6% of passengers passed 
through security in 15 minutes or less. 

We were also pleased to see confirmation 
that the Stansted Express rail service to London 
Liverpool Street will be restored to four trains 
per hour from December. The enhanced rail 
service will support the role the airport plays in 
providing efficient and affordable access to the 
world for business and leisure travellers alike, as 
well as serving as a vital gateway for inbound 
visitors to the capital.

MANCHESTER AIRPORT 

Manchester Airport handled 16.4m passengers 
between April–September, which was 14.7% 
up on the prior year, albeit slightly below pre-
Covid levels at 94.3%. 

As the UK’s global gateway in the North, 
growth was seen across Manchester’s route 
network, with many of its low-cost carriers 
delivering capacity above and beyond 
pre-Covid levels.

We were pleased to welcome EGYPTAIR to 
Manchester, with the flagship carrier starting 
a five times a week service to Cairo. Virgin 
Atlantic announced the resumption of its 
popular Las Vegas service, which will begin 
operating in June 2024.

Across April–September, Manchester delivered 
a consistently good service to passengers, with 
96.2% of people passing through security in 15 
minutes or less. We worked hard with airline 
and ground handling partners to ensure all 
stages of the customer journey performed well, 
including through the launch of a multi-skilled 
Resilience Team – staffed by airport colleagues 
– that was on hand to support our airlines’ 
response to a wide range of operational 
challenges in the moment.

We are disappointed by the Government’s 
decision not to continue with the second 
phase of HS2 beyond Birmingham, given its 
central role in driving economic growth across 
the North and enabling the development of 
Northern Powerhouse Rail (NPR).We are now 
working with the Government and regional 
stakeholders to develop proposals for NPR that 
will provide better connectivity across the North 
and ensure the whole of the North benefits from 
good access to the region’s global gateway 
at Manchester Airport and the economic 
opportunities this unlocks.

EAST MIDLANDS AIRPORT

Passenger volumes at East Midlands grew 
22.7% year-on-year to 2.7m during the six 
months, and stood at 84.4% of pre-Covid levels.

It has been pleasing to see the airlines 
operating at the airport increase their fleet sizes 
and capacity, with a number of additional 
routes being added to the departure boards.

These included TUI’s services to Ankara, 
Hurghada and Gran Canaria, Eastern Airways 
adding flights to Paris Orly and Aer Lingus 
Regional taking on the popular Belfast service. 

East Midlands’ reputation as a centrally located 
airport offering an effortless travel experience 
was reinforced by the strong operational 
performance it delivered this summer, with 
100% of passengers passing through security in 
15 minutes or less.

East Midlands remains the UK’s busiest pure 
freight airport, playing a vital role in supporting 
industries that rely on its cargo connectivity. 
During the period, more than 186,000 tonnes 
of cargo passed through the airport, which 
was down 11.2% year-on-year, reflecting a 
combination of macro-economic challenges 
faced by the freight and logistics sector as  
a whole.

CAVU

Developing and scaling CAVU is another of 
our strategic priorities, and it has been another 
strong trading period for the business unit. 
Building on the successful launch of propel™ 
in April, our new single platform, multiple new 
clients went live across Europe and North 
America. Strong guest numbers at our Escape 
and 1903 Lounges and a strong underlying 
performance from our existing digital channels, 
as well as the recent acquisition of ParkVia, all 
contributed to revenue and profit increasing 
significantly year-on-year.

Our performance at the mid-point of the 
reporting period gives me encouragement we 
will finish the financial year strongly.

I would like to conclude by thanking our 
colleagues and partners for all their hard work 
and support. We are clear in our strategy that 
building a strong, inclusive team will be at the 
heart of our success. This has been a primary 
focus of ours across MAG for some time and 
we are pleased to see that paying off in the 
performance of the Group.

Ken O’Toole
Group Chief Executive Officer

4 December 2023

https://www.jet2.com/


Corporate Social Responsibility 

Working together 
for a brighter future
In the first six months of this financial year, creating a more sustainable future for all 
continued to sit at the centre of how MAG operates, and we have remained focused 
on delivering our CSR Strategy “Working together for a brighter future”.

Our commitment to delivering a more 
sustainable future continues to be 
independently recognised, and in October 
we retained our five-star Global Real Estate 
Sustainability Benchmark (GRESB) ESG rating. 

SUSTAINABLE AVIATION  
DECARBONISATION ROAD-MAP

In April, we welcomed the publication of a 
new decarbonisation Road-Map from industry 
coalition Sustainable Aviation (SA). The 
Road-Map reflects the advancement made in 
decarbonisation technologies in the UK and 
detailed how the UK has become a global 
leader in sustainable aviation technology. As 
a founding member of SA in 2005, MAG 
endorses the findings of the Road-Map, which 
will allow MAG and the rest of the aviation 
industry to facilitate the use of low and zero 
carbon aviation technologies, to reach its 
collective target of net zero by 2050. 

2038
OUR AIRPORT 
OPERATIONS WILL BE 
NET ZERO BY 2038

MANCHESTER AIRPORT  
APPRENTICESHIP PROGRAMME

In June, Manchester Airport announced the 
launch of its new Aviation apprenticeship 
programme in partnership with Trafford 
College. The two-year scheme gives students 
paid experience in all elements of an airport 
operation, enabling them to gain a recognised 
qualification without the debt burden of going 
to university or college. Upon successful 
completion of the course, apprentices will then 
be offered a permanent role within the airport 
with opportunities to progress into team leader 
positions and beyond as their careers develop. 
This scheme is in addition to the new internal 
team leadership apprenticeship, and is just 
one part of MAG’s commitment to creating 
opportunity for all by delivering education and 
skills training across the regions it serves.

JET ZERO EDUCATION

Building on the five Jet Zero pledges MAG 
made in support of the Government’s Jet 
Zero Strategy in 2022, in July this year we 
announced that a Jet Zero Education curriculum 
would start in the new academic year in the on-
site MAG Connect Aerozones. The curriculum 
focuses on the role Sustainable Aviation Fuel 
(SAF) will play in the decarbonisation of 
aviation, with students learning about how 
SAF is produced, and the benefits it will bring 
in reducing aircraft emissions which will help 
meet the aviation industry’s target of net zero 
by 2050.

OUR ANNUAL CSR REPORT

The official launch of the Jet Zero Education 
curriculum coincided with the publication of 
MAG’s annual CSR Report in October. The 
report detailed MAG’s achievements over the 
last 12 months in delivering the CSR Strategy 
against its three themes: Opportunity for All, 
Zero Carbon Airports and Local Voices. 

Under Zero Carbon Airports we detailed the 
landmark partnership between Manchester 
Airport and HyNet, which aims to make it the 
first UK airport with a direct supply of zero 
emission hydrogen fuel by the mid-2030s, 
and the planning permission London Stansted 
secured to build a 14.3 megawatt solar farm 
which will help to meet its current and future 
energy needs.

The Report set out how many people had 
benefitted from MAG’s commitment to 
Opportunity for All, which saw more than 
6,500 young people visit a MAG Connect 
Aerozone and more than 12,000 people 
supported with skills and employment through 
MAG Connect Airport Academies.

In our commitment to hearing Local Voices, 
our Report spoke about our new Youth Forums 
at each airport that enable us to hear directly 
from younger people about their views on the 
sustainable development of MAG. And as part 
of our long-standing commitment to supporting 
local causes, MAG contributed nearly £1.0m 
through our community funds. 

MAHL
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MORE THAN

3,000 

YOUNG PEOPLE 
VISITED OUR 
AEROZONES

JOBS FAIRS, EDUCATION AND 
EMPLOYMENT 

Across the first six months of this year, we have 
attended and hosted more than 130 recruitment 
and skills events to promote the dynamic career 
opportunities available across MAG.

Our Aerozones have inspired more than 3,000 
young people in the first six months of this 
year, with attendees in the second half of this 
year set to experience our Jet Zero Education 
curriculum outlined above. Since April our on-
site Airport Academies have supported more 
than 5,500 people with employment and skills 
opportunities, as we continue to deliver on our 
commitment to Opportunity For All. 

COMMUNITY DONATIONS AND 
SUPPORT

We have continued to support the communities 
living closest to us, and across all three of our 
airports we have contributed to various important 
causes in the first six months of the year. 

In May, Manchester Airport passed the 
milestone of £4.0m in Community Trust Fund 
donations. More than £24,000 in donations 
were made in April alone, followed by an 
additional £22,000 to local causes including 
a food bank and a charity supporting new 
mothers. 

In April, London 
Stansted pledged 
£53,000 in donations 
to 15 organisations local 
to the airport, followed 
by a £50,000 donation in 
July to local charity, Grove 
Cottage.

East Midlands Airport 
Community Fund reached a 
milestone of £2.0m in donations 
in September, which over time has 
supported more than 1,700 local 
causes. In July, the airport facilitated 
the donation of more than 2,000 books 
and several laptops to a school in Ghana, 
through a joint initiative with a local primary 
school. Using its on-site partnership with 
DHL cargo services, East Midlands Airport 
ensured the supplies were transported to Lady 
of Hope School in Ghana.
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Financial review

Profitable 
growth 
supports
investment

Strong financial performance, 
driven by choice across our route 
networks and increased passenger 

numbers is supporting investment 
in transformation programmes 

to deliver world-class airport 
facilities.”

Jan Bramall
Group Chief Financial Officer

MMAHLAHL
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HEADLINE FINANCIALS

MAG’s financial performance for the six months ended 30 September 2023 saw a continuing recovery of activity levels, with passenger numbers of 
34.9m increasing by 14.4% compared to the six months ended 30 September 2022, and reaching 96% of pre-Covid-19 levels6. This strong performance 
and resultant cash generation has facilitiated higher investment levels with capital expenditure increasing by 84.9% to £133.5m. 

Passenger growth has driven a revenue increase of £140.4m versus the six months ended 30 September 2022, whilst effective operating cost control 
resulted in more than half of the revenue uplift flowing through to adjusted EBITDA¹, which increased by £85.1m to £346.1m, and operating profit 
increased by £195.4m to £218.2m. The significant year-on-year growth in operating profit is also attributable to the £119.7m one-off charge in the 
comparative period arising from the settlement of MAG’s Deferred Debt Arrangement (DDA) with GMPF. 

The Group’s profit before taxation for the period from continuing operations of £115.9m, was impacted by net finance costs of £104.8m and an increase 
of £2.4m in valuation of the Group’s investment properties.

Net assets attributable to equity holders have increased by £63.8m from the 31March 2023 position of £701.9m, largely due to the profit for the period.

Continuing Operations

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023 
£m 

Six months ended  
30 September 

2022 
£m

Change
£m

Change
%

Passenger numbers (m) 34.9 30.5 4.4 14.4%

Revenue 705.6 565.25 140.4 24.8%

Adjusted EBITDA¹ 346.1 261.0 85.1 32.6%

Operating profit 218.2 22.8 195.4 857.0%

Profit/(loss) before taxation 115.9 (94.2) 210.1 n/a

Adjusted cash generated from operations2 314.1 288.2 25.9 9.0%

Capital investment 133.5 72.2 61.3 84.9%

Payments to shareholders3 47.6 – 47.6 100.0%

Net debt (including IFRS 16)4 (2,931.2) (2,868.8) (62.4) (2.2)%

Total equity 767.0 759.9 7.1 0.9%

1  Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, share of results of associate, gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment property, and before 
adjusted items.

2 Adjusted cash generated from operations is cash generated from operations before adjusted items.

3 Includes payment of shareholder loan interest.

4 Net debt is defined and reconciled in note 19.

5 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.

MEASURES USED TO ASSESS PERFORMANCE

The Group uses a number of measures to assess financial performance that are not defined within IFRS and are widely referred to as ‘Alternative 
Performance Measures’ (APMs). The Group’s accounting policies relating to APMs are detailed on page 119 of the MAG Annual Report for the year 
ended 31 March 2023. Additionally, other information on page 52 details a full description of all of the Group’s APMs, their purpose and definition 
along with a reconciliation to the nearest IFRS measurement.

Reconciliation of APMs 
The reconciliation of APMs used within these statements is accompanied by a reference to the relevant IFRS measure and the adjustments made, and is 
provided on page 52 in Other information to the condensed financial statements.

6 Compared to the same comparative period to 30 September 2019. 
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Financial review continued

SUMMARY TRADING PERFORMANCE

Passenger traffic

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023
m

Six months ended 
 30 September 

2022 
m

Change
m

Change
%

Manchester Airport

London Stansted Airport

East Midlands Airport

16.4

15.8

2.7

14.3

14.0

2.2

2.1

1.8

0.5

14.7%

12.9%

22.7%

Total 34.9 30.5 4.4 14.4%

During the six months ended 30 September 2023, MAG continued its growth towards pre-pandemic activity levels with 34.9m passengers (30 
September 2022: 30.5m) travelling through the Group’s three airports. This amounted to 96% of pre-pandemic levels.

The bulk of the passenger increase has come from our low-cost carrier base with Ryanair, easyJet and Jet2 all delivering an increase across our airports, 
along with TUI’s increasing contribution at Manchester. The six months ended 30 September 2023 also saw a welcome increase in volumes through 
Emirates’ passenger numbers at both Manchester and London Stansted and British Airways’ increasing volumes at Manchester. MAG’s top 10 locations 
continue to comprise Dublin, Spain (Canaries, Balerics and the mainland), Turkey and the Middle East. However, the Group has also seen gains in new 
destinations at London Stansted and East Midlands to bolster growth. London Stansted benefitted from new Lufthansa flights to Munich, British Airways to 
Calvi, Jet2 to Athens and Rome alongside 12 new destinations offered by Ryanair, and East Midlands saw new Ryanair offerings to Malta, Cork, Girona 
and Belfast as well as TUI flights to Antalya and Hurghada. 

REVENUE

MAG has delivered a strong performance in the first half of FY24, leveraging from the FY23 recovery, and benefitting from the hard work to achieve the 
rapid increase in operational capacity in the prior year.

Summary of revenue stream

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023
£m

Six months ended 
 30 September 

20221 
£m

Change
£m

Change
%

Aviation income 240.2 204.0 36.2 17.7%

Retail concessions 169.2 122.0 47.2 38.7%

Car parking 221.0 183.2 37.8 20.6%

Property and property related income 9.5 10.6 (1.1) (10.4)%

Other 65.7 45.4 20.3 44.7%

Total revenue 705.6 565.2 140.4 24.8%

Summary of revenue by division 

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023
£m

Six months ended 
 30 September 

20221 
£m

Change
£m

Change
%

Manchester Airport 292.2 239.3 52.9 22.1%

London Stansted Airport 244.1 207.4 36.7 17.7%

East Midlands Airport 54.4 45.7 8.7 19.0%

CAVU 113.4 70.9 42.5 59.9%

Group, Consolidation and other 1.5 1.9 (0.4) (21.1)%

Total revenue 705.6 565.2 140.4 24.8%

1 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.
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The Group’s revenue increased by 24.8% compared to the prior period. All three UK airports achieved revenue increases driven by the passenger uplift 
ranging from 14.7% to 22.7%. Revenue per passenger at all three airports increased across all of the principal revenue streams. Cargo income, across 
the three airports, continued to soften marginally from pandemic highs from £22.1m to £21.5m.

CAVU, the Group’s global distribution business, has continued to show a sharp increase in revenue since its launch in FY22. Revenue increased for the six 
months to September 2023 by 59.9% to £113.4m from £70.9m2 (for the period to 30 September 2022). The increased revenue is driven by the EMEA 
businesses through distribution, airport contracts and above plan performance of the recently acquired ParkVia business, and the US business, principally 
through lounges’ performance.

The aviation, retail and car parking revenue streams all saw increases driven by the passenger uplift. In addition, yield in aviation, retail and car parking 
all saw increases at all of our airports. Retail, in particular, saw good growth at all three airports. 

Breakdown of operating profit

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023
£m

Six months ended 
 30 September 

20222 
£m

Change
£m

Change
%

Revenue 705.6 565.2 140.4 24.8%

Employment costs (161.3) (147.1) (14.2) (9.7)%

Other operating costs (198.1) (157.1) (41.0) (26.1)%

Adjusted EBITDA¹ 346.1 261.0 85.1 32.6%

Depreciation and amortisation (121.9) (116.5) (5.4) (4.6)%

Adjusted items (6.0) (121.7) 115.7 95.1%

Operating profit 218.2 22.8 195.4 857.0%

Adjusted EBITDA¹ improved by £85.1m (32.6%) to £346.1m, compared to the prior period. The increase was driven by the rise in passengers year-on-
year. Effective cost control enabled over 50% of the revenue uplift to flow through to adjusted EBITDA¹. Employee costs increased by 9.7% to £161.3m, 
driven by wage inflation and headcount increases. Other operating costs increased by 26.1% to £198.1m with rates and utilities, information systems 
costs, cleaning, airfield costs and marketing being the main increases. 

Depreciation and amortisation costs are marginally higher (£5.4m, 4.6%) than the prior year at £121.9m.

1  Adjusted EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation, share of results of associate, gains and losses on sales and valuation of investment property, and before 
adjusted items.

2 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.
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Financial review continued

An adjusted items charge of £6.0m was recognised for the six months ended 30 September 2023 (FY22: £121.7m which was heavily impacted by 
the £119.7m settlement loss on MAG’s deferred debt agreement with GMPF). The principal component of the current year charge are costs relating to 
MAG’s Transformation Programme, acquisition expenses and earn-out costs for the ParkVia acquisition. 

Operating profit/(loss) by division 

Six months ended  
30 September 

2023
£m

Restated¹
Six months ended 

 30 September 
2022 

£m
Change

£m
Change

%

Manchester Airport 77.9 (77.8) 155.7 (200.1)%

London Stansted Airport 92.2 65.6 26.6 40.5%

East Midlands Airport 17.6 16.1 1.5 9.3%

CAVU 28.2 14.4 13.8 95.8%

Group, consolidation and other 2.3 4.5 (2.2) (48.9)%

Total operating profit 218.2 22.8 195.4 857.0%

1 The prior year has been restated as detailed in note 2 on page 34.

NET FINANCE COSTS

Net finance costs have remained relatively flat at £104.8m in comparison to the £102.8m charge for the six months ended 30 September 2022. This is 
primarily due to the relatively high percentage of fixed rate borrowings but also reflects:

• Improved cash position due to operating performance and ability to repay Revolving Credit Facility in FY23;

• Interest related to pension income £2.0m (30 September 2022: £0.2m);

• Higher capitalisation of interest £5.7m (30 September 2022: £1.8m) of borrowing costs relating to capital investment programmes; offset by

• An increase in adjusted finance charges from £4.4m at 30 September 2022, to £11.3m for the six months to 30 September 2023, arising from 
adjustments to the estimated carrying value of the shareholder loan, impacted by increased interest rates; and

• Finance income of £0.9m (30 September 2022: £nil) in relation to a gilt lock hedge entered into in the period.

CASH FLOW

Adjusted cash inflow from operating activities amounted to £314.1m, compared to a cash inflow of £288.2m in the six month period to 30 September 
2022. This reflects recovery in passenger levels during the six months period mirroring the increase in adjusted EBITDA to £346.1m (2022: £261.0m).

The Group also incurred a cash outflow of £135.2m from investing activities (30 September 2022: £73.8m) reflecting the increased capital spend levels 
and the acquisition of ParkVia. Additionally, MAG benefitted from an inflow of £349.4m from financing activity, relating to the issue of a £360.0m bond 
in September 2023 offset by a £47.6m payment of shareholder loan interest. Overall, net cash and cash equivalents increased by £443.1m in the six 
month period from £67.6m at 31 March 2023 to £510.7m at 30 September 2023.

GROUP FINANCING AND DEBT

MAG’s financing strategy is based upon maintaining strong investment grade ratings with Fitch and Moody’s, and a long-term financing structure to 
support growth. MAG holds investment grade BBB+ and Baa1 credit ratings with Fitch and Moody’s, who both reaffirmed this in their recent annual 
ratings exercises. In September 2023, MAG successfully secured future funding requirements by issuing an 18-year, £360.0m bond in order to ensure 
sufficient funds are in place to repay the £360.0m bond due to mature in April 2024. The bond was four times oversubscribed, demonstrating the 
confidence in MAG’s future prospects. 

Group net debt (including leases) has decreased by £27.5m during the six months to £2,931.2m (31 March 2023: £2,958.7m). At 30 September 2023, 
there was Group debt of £2,948.5m; lease liabilities of £493.4m (an increase of £35.2m since the year end principally due to remeasurement); offset 
by net cash of £510.7m. This equates to a headroom of £1,004.7m comprising the cash balance, the undrawn Revolving Credit Facility of £484.0m and 
£10.0m of available overdraft facility.

MAHL
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BUSINESS OUTLOOK

The six months ended 30 September 2023 saw MAG build successfully on the strong performance in FY23, with passenger numbers recovering to 96% 
of pre-pandemic levels. This has enabled increased infrastructure investment and continuation of payments to the Group’s shareholders in respect of 
shareholder loan interest.

MAG’s performance at the mid-point of the reporting year is encouraging, standing the Group in good stead to finish the financial year strongly.

MAG’s going concern assessment confirms that the going concern assumption can be applied in the preparation of these condensed consolidated 
interim financial statements. This is detailed further in the Basis of preparation on page 22.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The Group has made an investment of £133.5m in its infrastructure during the six months ended 30 September 2023 (six months ended 30 September 
2022: £72.2m). This increased spend level reflects the Group’s investment in: phase 2 of MAN-TP; the systems required under the next generation 
security requirements; and airfield renewals.

ACQUISITION OF PARKVIA

On 22 May 2023 MAG acquired 100% of the share capital of ParkCloud Holdings Ltd, trading as ParkVia. ParkVia is an ecommerce airport parking 
aggregator operating in the UK and the EU. The consideration for the acquisition was an upfront payment of £8.4m. Additionally, there are contingent 
payments to key management of the acquiree, that are dependent upon post-acquisition performance and continued employment. 

As a result of the purchase price allocation exercise performed by an independent valuer for the acquisition, supported by management, the Group have 
valued the consideration at £8.4m, and recorded £4.6m of intangible assets and £6.1m of goodwill. As the contingent payments are dependent upon 
ongoing employment, it is recognised as remuneration in the income statement as an adjusted item (see page 36). 

PENSIONS

The accounting surplus/deficit for all Group schemes is calculated by the Directors and supported by independent scheme actuaries, PwC, who 
incorporate data taken from a number of sources in calculating the closing surplus/deficit position across the four defined benefit schemes.  
The movement in net surplus included in the financial statements under IAS 19 decreased marginally from £86.6m at 31 March 2023 to £86.1m at  
30 September 2023.

Summary of changes in aggregate pension scheme surplus £m

Net surplus on 31 March 20231 86.6

Current service & past service cost (0.7)

Other financial income 2.0

Contributions 0.2

Actuarial loss (2.0)

Net surplus on 30 September 2023¹ 86.1

1  The surpluses on the London Stansted and East Midlands schemes cannot be offset against the liability on the GMPF scheme. The liability on the GMPF scheme (31 March 2023: £3.9m 
and 30 September 2023: £3.6m) and AVPS scheme (31 March 2023: £0.2m and 30 September 2023: £0.3m) is therefore presented separately in the financial statements. 

Taxation
The Group has recognised a tax charge in the income statement of £51.4m (2022: charge of £43.5m). The current year charge is driven by the current 
year profit before tax at the underlying 31.0% forecast effective corporation tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2024. 
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Financial review continued

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE GROUP

Equity attributable to owners of the group are £765.7m as at 30 September 2023 (31 March 2023: £701.9m). The movement comprises: £64.3m profit 
after tax and adjusting items, £0.5m profit from discontinued activities, a loss of £1.9m on remeasurement of pension liabilities and gain of £0.9m on 
foreign exchange, both recorded in equity.

RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES

The principal strategic level risks and uncertainties affecting the Group, together with the approach to their mitigation, remain as set out on pages 82 to 
87 in the 2023 Annual Report and Accounts, which is available on the Group’s website (www.magairports.com). 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES UNDER S172

Section 172(1) requires the Directors to act, in good faith, in a manner they consider seeks to promote the long-term success of the business. The Directors 
have set out their statement in compliance of Section 172(1) in the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements for the period ended 31 March 2023.

Jan Bramall
Group Chief Financial Officer

4 December 2023

MAHL
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Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect  
of the half-yearly financial report

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge that the condensed set of financial statements has been prepared in accordance with International Accounting 
Standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as adopted for use in the UK.

By order of the Board,

Ken O’Toole
Group Chief Executive Officer

4 December 2023
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Accounting policies

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Manchester Airports Holdings Limited (‘the ‘Company’) is a private limited liability company incorporated and domiciled in England and Wales in 
the UK. The Company is the Parent Company and the ultimate holding company of the Group. The address of the registered office is Olympic House, 
Manchester Airport, Manchester, M90 1QX.

The principal activities of the Group are set out within the Group’s Annual Report for the year ended 31 March 2023 on page 98.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

This set of financial statements has been prepared in accordance with IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting as adopted for use in the UK. The financial 
statements are presented in pounds sterling which is also the Group’s functional currency.

The consolidated interim financial information should be read in conjunction with the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023. 
The Annual Report was prepared in accordance with International Accounting Standards in conformity with the requirements of the  
Companies Act 2006.

The Group’s business is highly seasonal with customer demand at its strongest during the summer months. Consequently, the Group experiences higher 
revenues and profits during the first six months of the year.

The consolidated set of interim financial statements has been prepared by the Group applying the same accounting policies and significant judgements 
as were applied by the Group in its published consolidated financial statements as at 31 March 2023. 

The consolidated interim financial information provided in this report is unaudited in the current and prior period. The comparative figures for the financial 
year ended 31 March 2023 are not the Group’s statutory accounts for that financial year but are derived from those accounts. Those accounts have 
been reported on by the Company’s auditor and delivered to the registrar of companies. The report of the auditor was (i) unqualified, and (ii) did not 
contain a statement under section 498 (2) or (3) of the Companies Act 2006.

GOING CONCERN

The Directors have prepared the interim financial statements on a going concern basis. In assessing the going concern position of the Group, the Directors 
have considered the current economic uncertainty on the cash flow and liquidity of the Group, for a period to March 2025, and the corresponding 
impact on cash headroom and financial covenants associated with the Group’s financing arrangements. 

The Group is subject to financial covenants on its secured financing facilities, being leverage (Net Debt/adjusted EBITDA) and interest cover (adjusted 
EBITDA less tax/net senior finance charges). The covenants are tested half yearly on 31 March and 30 September. Both financial covenants passed 
when they were tested on 30 September 2023. 

At 30 September 2023, the Group had significant financial liquidity available of £1,004.7m comprising net cash in hand of £510.7m together with 
£484.0m of undrawn Revolving Credit Facility and £10.0m in undrawn available overdraft facilities. The Group also has access to a committed £90.0m 
Liquidity Facility (available until May 2027) to ensure interest payment obligations can be complied with for over 12 months from the date of approval of 
these interim financial statements. The Group does not expect to utilise the Liquidity Facility. The Group successfully issued a £360.0m bond in September 
2023 in order to refinance a £360.0m bond which is due to mature in April 2024. No other borrowings expire within or just after the going concern 
forecast period. 

Since the lifting of restrictions, due to Covid-19, passenger numbers have returned strongly with the Group achieving passenger numbers of 96% of pre-
Covid-19 levels during the six months ended 30 September 2023. Passenger numbers for the year ending 31 March 2025 are expected to exceed pre-
Covid-19 levels at 63.0m, per the ‘base case’ prepared by management. As a result of this strong trading performance, in combination with the available 
liquidity outlined above, the Group can maintain sufficient liquidity over a period of at least 16 months from the date of the approval of these financial 
statements and can meet the requirements of the financing covenants when tested over that period, in the ‘base case’.
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GOING CONCERN CONTINUED

The Directors have also prepared a number of severe but plausible downside scenarios, including the impact of ongoing economic and political 
situations. These downside scenarios model a significant fall in passenger numbers with certain cash and cost mitigations to remove areas of discretionary 
spend but keep key regulatory or infrastructure spend in place. The Group can, where necessary, also undertake potential mitigating actions within its 
control, including cutting of additional spend and delaying of further capital expenditure.

Under the downside scenarios, all testing throughout the going concern assessment period is forecast to be compliant with the Group’s covenants when 
tested at each reporting date and there is sufficient liquidity.

In addition, a reverse stress test has been prepared by management which demonstrates the level of passenger numbers that would result in a covenant 
breach. This level of passenger numbers is considered to be implausible, based on current passenger levels and industry predictions.

Based upon all the analysis detailed above, the Directors have concluded that the Group can meet its covenant requirements and maintain sufficient 
liquidity throughout the going concern period and as such, it is appropriate for the Group to continue to adopt the going concern basis for the 
preparation of these accounts.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES IN ADDITION TO THOSE SPECIFIED IN THE GROUP ANNUAL REPORT FOR YEAR ENDED  
31 MARCH 2023

The accounting policies that the Group has adopted to determine the amounts included in respect of material items shown in the statement of financial 
position, and to determine the profit or loss, are listed in full in the Group’s Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023. These have 
been applied on a consistent basis.

Recent amendments to UK adopted International Accounting Standards applicable to the reporting period include:

• IFRS17 – insurance contracts new standard;

• IAS 12 ‘Income taxes’ – treatment of deferred tax asset and liability balances arising from a single transaction;

• IAS 37 ‘Onerous Contracts’ – defining costs to be included in loss-making contract assessment; and

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated interim financial statements for the six months ended 30 September 2023 and no retrospective 
amendments were required.
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Accounting policies continued

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

In the preparation of these consolidated financial statements, the Group has made judgements and estimates in a number of key areas. The assumptions 
and estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of the event or actions in question; however, actual results may ultimately differ from  
these estimates.

CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS

In preparing the six months consolidated interim financial information, the areas where judgement has been exercised by management in applying the 
Group’s accounting policies include 1) going concern, and 2) impact of Transformation Programmes on fixed asset balances which were detailed in 
the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023. In addition, management also considers the classification of Property, Plant & 
Equipment (PPE) balances and the acquisition accounting of Parkvia as critical judgement areas.

Acquisition accounting of ParkVia
On 31 May 2023 MAG acquired 100% of the equity of ParkCloud Holdings Limited, trading as ParkVia, for an initial consideration of £8.4m, with 
further contingent consideration payable depending on financial performance in the first year following the acquisition. The Directors appointed PwC to 
undertake a valuation exercise to allocate the purchase price across intangible assets and goodwill with the contingent consideration dependent upon 
future employment of management being expensed as remuneration. Further details of the acquisition and the Group’s accounting of the purchase are 
detailed in note 9.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key sources of estimation uncertainty are aligned to the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023. The critical accounting 
estimates areas that have been reconsidered are: valuation of investment properties; valuation of the Group’s net pension surplus/liability; the 
modification of financial instruments and; impairment of non-financial assets. These are detailed below.

a) Investment properties
MAG’s commercial investment properties were valued at fair value at 30 September 2023 by JLL. The valuations were prepared in accordance with 
IFRS and the appraisal and valuation manual issued by the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Valuations were carried out having regard to 
comparable market evidence of transaction prices and rental values for similar properties, land valuations and the residual valuation approach for 
development land. The value of the Group’s commercial investment properties has been included in the financial statements at the value advised by its 
professional advisors. Consistent with the Group’s treatment in prior years, the Group’s residential properties have not been revalued at the half year 
though this has not had a material impact upon the accounts.

b) Pensions
Certain assumptions have been adopted for factors that determine the valuation of the Group’s liability for pension obligations at year end, future returns 
on pension scheme assets and charges to the income statement. The factors have been determined in consultation with the Group’s independent actuary 
taking into account market and economic conditions as at 30 September 2023. Changes in assumptions can vary from year-to-year as a result of 
changing conditions and other determinants which may cause increases or decreases in the valuation of the Group’s liability for pension obligations. The 
objective of setting pension scheme assumptions for future years is to reflect the expected actual outcomes. The impact of the change in assumptions on 
the valuation of the net financial position for pension schemes is reflected in the statement of other comprehensive income Further details are available in 
note 17.
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ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY CONTINUED

c) Change in estimate of financial instruments
The carrying value of the Group’s shareholder loan liabilities are calculated by management’s estimate of the future cash flows (see financial instruments 
note 15). As a result of MAG’s strategic finance response in 2020 and 2021, the payment of interest on the shareholder loans has been deferred until the 
Group is in compliance with its loan covenant requirements.

Consequently, management’s estimate of the date that deferred interest will be repaid is an accounting estimate that will impact the quantification of the 
shareholder loan liability. Any changes to the timing of repayments, as outlined in the latest board-approved business plan, will result in a modification 
gain or loss which is recognised in the income statement at the time that the revision takes place. 

The quantum (but not timing) of repayments may change as a result of changes in underlying interest rates. Whilst such a change is not deemed to be a 
modification, the impact is included within adjusted finance costs.

The repayment of shareholder loan deferred interest commenced on March 2023 and is estimated to conclude on March 2030.

d) Impairment of non-financial assets
Estimates of the Group’s operating cash flows, based upon the latest approved forecasts, have been considered as the underlying basis of the MAG’s 
impairment assessment. These are consistent with the FY24 Business Plan that was used for the impairment assessment as at 31 March 2023. For the 
Interim Report and Accounts MAG have further considered the recent increase in discount rates coupled with known material changes in operating cash 
flows to assess whether any impairment was needed to be booked in the interim accounts.
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Consolidated income statement
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited Unaudited

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months 
ended  

30 September 
20222

£m

Six months 
ended  

30 September  
2022

£m

Six months 
ended

30 September 
20222

£m

Year 
ended

31 March 
2023

£m

Note

Total before
adjusted

items
Adjusted

items

Total after 
adjusted

items

Total before
adjusted

items
Adjusted

items

Total after 
adjusted

items

Total after 
adjusted

items

Continuing operations

Revenue 1 705.6 – 705.6 565.2 – 565.2 1,029.0 

Operating expenses (481.4) (6.0) (487.4) (420.7) (121.7) (542.4) (1,000.4)

Operating profit/(loss)¹ 224.2 (6.0) 218.2 144.5 (121.7) 22.8 28.6 

Share of result of associate

Gains and losses on sales and 
valuation of investment properties

Finance income

Finance costs 

8 

4

4 

0.1 

2.4 

2.6 

(96.6)

–

–

0.9 

(11.7)

0.1 

2.4 

3.5 

(108.3)

0.1 

(14.3)

3.4 

(101.8)

– 

– 

– 

(4.4)

0.1 

(14.3)

3.4 

(106.2)

0.1 

(26.3)

7.0 

(206.8)

Profit/(loss) before 
taxation

Taxation 5 

132.7 

(51.2)

(16.8)

(0.2)

115.9 

(51.4)

31.9 

(43.5)

(126.1)

– 

(94.2)

(43.5)

(197.4)

33.2 

Profit/(loss) after taxation 81.5 (17.0) 64.5 (11.6) (126.1) (137.7) (164.2)

Discontinued operations

Profit/(loss) from discontinued 
operations (net of tax) – 0.5 0.5 – 3.9 3.9 4.7 

Profit/(loss) for the 
period/year 81.5 (16.5) 65.0 (11.6) (122.2) (133.8) (159.5)

Attributable to:

Equity holders of the Group 81.3 (16.5) 64.8 (11.6) (122.2) (133.8) (159.6)

Non-controlling interests 0.2 – 0.2 – – – 0.1 

Earnings per share 
expressed in pence per 
ordinary share

Continuing operations 25.7 (5.4) 20.4 (3.7) (39.8) (43.5) (52.2)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

1 The operating profit before adjusted items for year ended 31 March 2023 was £169.8m. Detailed results for the year ended 31 March 2023, including results before and after adjusted 
items, can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023.

2 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

Note

Unaudited  
Six months ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended

30 September 
2022

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Profit/(loss) for the period/year 65.0 (133.8) (159.6)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities 

Deferred tax on remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities 

Effect of change in rate of corporation tax on deferred tax

17

5

5

(2.0)

0.1

–

167.8 

(12.9)

–

177.4 

(39.5)

(7.0)

Items that are or may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Foreign exchange movement 0.9 13.9 6.0 

Taxation on foreign exchange movement 5 – – (0.3)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the period/year (1.0) 168.8 136.6 

Total comprehensive income for the period/year 64.0 35.0 (23.0)
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Consolidated statement of financial position
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

Note

Unaudited  
Six months ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended

30 September 
2022

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Non-current assets

Goodwill 10 216.7 214.4 210.1

Intangible assets 10 97.6 86.1 88.3

Property, plant and equipment 6 3,128.0 3,114.5 3,107.2

Right-of-use assets 7 471.0 435.6 437.0

Long-term lease receivable 11.2 11.2 11.2

Investment properties 8 157.5 170.5 155.1

Investment in associate 7.5 7.0 7.1

Other long-term asset – 3.6 –

Retirement benefit assets 17 90.0 77.4 90.7

4,179.5 4,120.3 4,106.7

Current Assets

Inventories 4.2 4.6 4.1

Trade and other receivables 171.7 147.8 122.7

Cash and cash equivalents 611.7 761.7 172.8

787.6 914.1 299.6

Current liabilities
Current borrowings 11-15 (460.5) (134.9) (105.2)

Trade and other payables (289.5) (252.2) (254.4)

Deferred income (41.4) (44.3) (35.7)

Provisions (18.6) (16.1) (20.0)

Current lease liabilities 16 (11.3) (8.8) (9.4)

Current tax liabilities (36.9) (50.3) –

(858.2) (506.6) (424.7)

Net current (liabilities)/assets (70.6) 407.5 (125.1)

Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 11-15 (2,589.0) (3,040.6) (2,568.1)

Retirement benefit liabilities 17 (3.9) (3.9) (4.1)

Non-current lease liabilities 16 (482.1) (446.2) (448.8)

Deferred tax liabilities (245.5) (254.1) (235.2)

Provisions (2.1) (2.2) (2.1)

Other non-current liabilities (19.3) (20.9) (20.3)

(3,341.9) (3,767.9) (3,278.6)

Net Assets 767.0 759.9 703.0

Shareholders' equity

Share capital 316.6 316.6 316.6

Share premium 743.3 743.3 743.3

Foreign currency reserve 5.3 12.6 4.4

Retained earnings (299.5) (312.6) (362.4)

Equity attributable to equity holders of the Group 765.7 759.9 701.9

Non-controlling interest 1.3 – 1.1

Total equity 767.0 759.9 703.0

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 26 to 51 were approved by the Board of Directors on 4 December 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

Ken O’Toole
Group Chief Executive 
MAG
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited 

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Note

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Foreign 
currency 
reserve2 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests¹ 
£m

Total 
equity 

£m

Balance at 1 April 2023 316.6 743.3 4.4 (362.4) 701.9 1.1 703.0 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Profit for the period – – – 64.8 64.8 0.2 65.0 

Foreign exchange movement

Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities, net of tax 5, 17

–

–

–

–

0.9 

–

–

(1.9)

0.9 

(1.9)

–

–

0.9 

(1.9)

Transactions with owners recorded directly 
in equity

Dividends paid to equity holders

–

–

–

–

0.9 

–

62.9 

–

63.8 

–

0.2 

–

64.0 

–

Balance at 30 September 2023 316.6 743.3 5.3 (299.5) 765.7 1.3 767.0 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the six months ended 30 September 2022

Unaudited

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Note

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Foreign 
currency 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m

Total
equity 

£m

Balance at 1 April 2022 316.6 743.3 (1.3) (333.7) 724.9 

Total comprehensive income for the period

Loss for the period

Foreign exchange movement

Remeasurement of defined benefit liabilities, net of tax 5, 17

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

13.9 

– 

(133.8)

– 

154.9 

(133.8)

13.9 

154.9 

Transactions with owners recorded directly in equity

Dividends paid to equity holders

– 

– 

– 

– 

13.9 

– 

21.1 

– 

35.0 

– 

Balance at 30 September 2022 316.6 743.3 12.6 (312.6) 759.9 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March 2023

Attributable to equity holders of the Group

Note

Share 
capital 

£m

Share 
premium 

£m

Foreign 
currency 
reserve2 

£m

Retained 
earnings 

£m
Total 

£m

Non-
controlling 

interests¹ 
£m

Total equity 
£m

Balance at 1 April 2022 316.6 743.3 (1.3) (333.7) 724.9 – 724.9 

Total comprehensive income for the year

Loss for the year

Acquisition of non-controlling interests

Foreign exchange movement, net of tax

Transfer from hedging reserve to foreign 
currency reserve

Remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities, net of tax 5, 17

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

5.7 

– 

– 

(159.6)

–

–

–

130.9 

(159.6)

– 

5.7 

– 

130.9 

0.1 

1.0 

– 

– 

– 

(159.5)

1.0 

5.7 

– 

130.9 

– – 5.7 (28.7) (23.0) 1.1 (21.9)

Balance at 31 March 2023 316.6 743.3 4.4 (362.4) 701.9 1.1 703.0 

1  During the period, the Group acquired a majority interest in a concession in a lounge. MAG has assessed that it controls the concession in the lounge and has consolidated 100% of the 
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities in the income statement and balance sheet. The profit for the year and other reserve movements have been split between those attributable to 
MAG’s equity holders and those attributable to non-controlling interests. 

2   The foreign currency reserve reflects exchange rate differences arising when converting the Group’s US operations results into the reporting presentation currency using the average rate to 
translate the income statement and the spot rate to translate the statement of financial position.
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Consolidated statement of cash flows
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited Unaudited

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months
ended

30 September 
2023

£m

Six months
ended

30 September 
2022

£m

Year
ended

31 March
2023

£m

Note

Before 
adjusted

items
Adjusted

items

After  
adjusted

items

After 
adjusted

items

After  
adjusted

items*

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) for the period/year

Taxation

Gains and losses on sale and valuation of investment properties

Finance income

Finance costs

5

8

4

4

81.5

51.2

(2.4)

(2.6)

96.6

(17.0)

0.2

–

(0.9)

11.7

64.5

51.4

(2.4)

(3.5)

108.3

(137.7)

43.5

14.3

–

102.8

(164.2)

(33.2)

26.3

(7.0)

206.8

Share of result in associate (0.1) – (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Depreciation, amortisation and impairment

Increase in trade and other receivables and inventories

Increase in trade and other payables

Decrease in retirement benefits provision1

121.9

(58.0)

25.7

0.3

0.8

–

1.5

–

122.7

(58.0)

27.2

0.3

116.5

(57.3)

86.2

118.0

258.1

(21.1)

63.6

121.2

Cash generated from continuing operations 314.1 (3.7) 310.4 286.2 450.4

Result before taxation – discontinued operations

Movements in working capital – discontinued operations

Interest paid

Interest received

Tax paid

0.7

5.0

(89.8)

2.6

–

3.9

–

(43.6)

–

–

5.8

(5.8)

(138.3)

7.0

(32.1)

Net cash from operating activities 228.9 246.5 287.0

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of property, plant and equipment (122.4) (71.6) (174.4)

(Investment in)/distributions from associate

Purchase of intangible fixed assets

Increase of grants

Consideration on acquisitions, net of cash acquired

Payment of deferred consideration on prior acquisitions

Proceeds (net of selling costs) from sale of property, plant, 
equipment and investment properties

9

(0.3)

(6.8)

–

(5.7)

–

–

4.9

–

0.7

–

(7.8)

–

4.8

(8.2)

–

–

(7.8)

1.3

Net cash used in investing activities – continuing 
activities (135.2) (73.8) (184.3)

Cash flows from financing activities

Repayment of bank loan borrowings

Bond issue in the period

Transaction costs related to loans and borrowings

Payment of principal on lease liabilities

13

16

–

358.4

(3.2)

(5.8)

–

–

(4.4)

(4.4)

(484.0)

–

(4.3)

(9.7)

Net cash from/(used in) financing activities 349.4 (8.8) (498.0)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period 19

443.1

67.6

163.9

462.9

(395.3)

462.9

Net cash and cash equivalents at end of the period 510.7 626.8 67.6

1 This includes the settlement of the Deferred Debt Arrangement (DDA) in September 2022 and March 2023 (Note 17).

* Detailed results for the year ended 31 March 2023, including results before and after adjusted items, can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Notes to the financial statements
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

1. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: 

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
20221 

£m

Year 
ended 

31 March  
2023 

£m

Aviation income 240.2 204.0 355.9

Commercial income 

Retail concessions 169.2 122.0 234.5 

Car parking 221.0 183.2 325.1 

Property and property-related income 9.5 10.6 20.2 

Other 65.7 45.4 93.3 

Total commercial income 465.4 361.2 673.1

Total continuing income 705.6 565.2 1,029.0 

Revenue from all income streams is recognised in line with IFRS 15.

Other income includes utilities recovery £25.6m (30 September 2022: £12.6m), refuelling £6.1m (30 September 2022: £6.1m) and retail travel services 
income £7.9m (30 September 2022: £7.2m).

1 The revenue and operating costs for the six months to 30 September 2022 have been restated by £26.5m in order to correct an error in relation to cost of sales better reflected in operating 
expenses rather than a reduction to revenue. This restatement has no impact on net assets, the results for the year or cash flows.
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2. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS

For management purposes, the Group is organised into four main operating divisions: Manchester Airport, London Stansted Airport, East Midlands 
Airport and CAVU.

The reportable segments are consistent with how information is presented to the Group Chief Executive Officer (Chief Operating Decision Maker) to 
report its primary information for the purpose of assessment of performance and allocation of resources.

With the exception of CAVU, the primary business of all of these operating divisions is the operation and development of airport facilities in the UK. 
CAVU’s US revenue is less than 10% of total Group revenue. Consequently, no geographical split of performance has been included. 

Unaudited

Six months ended 30 September 2023

Manchester 
Airport 

£m

London  
Stansted  

Airport 
£m

East  
Midlands 

Airport 
£m

CAVU 
£m

Group, 
consolidation 

and other1 
£m

Consolidated 
– continuing 

operations 
£m

Discontinued 
operations2 

£m

Revenue

Total revenue

Inter-segment sales3

293.0

(0.8)

244.1

–

54.4

–

113.4

–

1.5

–

706.4

(0.8)

–

–

External revenue 292.2 244.1 54.4 113.4 1.5 705.6 –

Result

Segment operating profit before  
adjusted items

Adjusted items

81.5

(3.6)

92.2

–

17.6

–

30.3

(2.1)

2.6

(0.3)

224.2

(6.0)

–

0.7

Segment operating profit after 
adjusted items 77.9 92.2 17.6 28.2 2.3 218.2 0.7

Share of result of associate

Gains and losses on sales and valuation 
of investment properties

Finance income

Finance costs

0.1

2.4

3.5

(108.3)

–

–

–

–

Profit before taxation 115.9 0.7

Other information

Segment assets4

Segment liabilities4

Capital expenditure

Intangible expenditure

Depreciation

Amortisation

Taxation

2,121.9

(1,370.7)

79.5

0.2

62.9

2.3

(19.9)

1,651.4

(185.2)

34.0

0.2

33.5

0.3

(24.4)

300.7

(62.8)

12.4

0.2

8.2

–

(4.1)

297.8

(137.1)

6.9

1.7

4.4

3.0

(4.8)

595.3

(2,444.3)

0.7

4.5

3.6

3.7

1.8

4,967.1

(4,200.1)

133.5

6.8

112.6

9.3

(51.4)

–

–

–

–

–

–

(0.2)
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Notes to the financial statements continued
for the six months ended 30 September 2023

2. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS CONTINUED

Six months ended 30 September 2022 
(restated)

Manchester 
Airport 

£m

London 
Stansted  

Airport  
£m

Unaudited

East  
Midlands 

Airport 
£m

CAVU5 
£m

Group, 
consolidation 

and other1 
£m

Consolidated 
– continuing 
operations5 

£m

Discontinued 
operations2 

£m

Revenue

Total revenue 241.3 207.4 45.7 70.9 1.9 567.2 –

Inter-segment sales³ (2.0) – – – – (2.0) –

External revenue 239.3 207.4 45.7 70.9 1.9 565.2 –

Result

Segment operating profit before 
adjusted items 43.8 65.7 16.1 14.4 4.5 144.5 –

Adjusted items (121.6) (0.1) – – – (121.7) 3.9

Segment operating (loss)/profit after 
adjusted items (77.8) 65.6 16.1 14.4 4.5 22.8 3.9

Share of result of associate 0.1 –

Gains and losses on sales and valuation 
of investment properties (14.3) –

Finance income 3.4 –

Finance costs (106.2) –

Profit before taxation (94.2) 3.9 

Other information

Segment assets4 2,066.6 1,618.0 289.4 123.0 937.4 5,034.4 –

Segment liabilities4 (1,477.4) (314.3) (102.3) (76.3) (2,304.2) (4,274.5) –

Capital expenditure 41.4 17.3 2.6 7.3 3.6 72.2 –

Intangible expenditure – – – 1.2 0.5 1.7 –

Depreciation 59.1 35.7 6.5 2.1 6.0 109.4 –

Amortisation 2.7 0.1 – 3.5 0.8 7.1 –

Taxation 12.7 28.2 3.7 4.2 (5.3) 43.5 –

Restatements
The business and geographical segments at 30 September 2022 have been restated in order to correct an error in relation to the allocation of certain 
costs and the Group tax charge across the segments. This restatement has no impact on net assets, the result for the year or cash flows.

5 Restated in the prior period as detailed in note 1.
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2. BUSINESS AND GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENTS CONTINUED

Adjustments made to business and geographical segments note as at 30 September 2022

Income statement

Manchester 
Airport 

£m

London Stansted 
Airport 

£m

East Midlands 
Airport 

£m
CAVU 

£m

Group, 
consolidation 

and other  
£m

Total – 
continuing 
operations

 £m

Segment operating (loss)/profit before 
adjusted items

Adjusted items – operating costs

(4.7)

(1.9)

(4.6)

(0.1)

(0.7)

–

(0.8)

–

10.8

2.0

–

–

Segment operating (loss)/profit after 
adjusted items (6.6) (4.7) (0.7) (0.8) 12.8 –

Other information

Segment assets

Segment liabilities

Taxation credit/(charge)

(23.9)

(115.4)

0.3

(15.9)

(107.1)

0.9

(3.4)

(47.0)

0.1

(6.9)

(3.6)

0.2

50.1

273.1

(1.5)

–

–

–

Segment operating (loss)/profit before 
adjusted items (4.7) (4.6) (0.7) (0.8) 10.8 –

1 Group consolidation and other includes Group, Head Office, MAG Property, and other subsidiary companies and balances arising on consolidation, which are not specific to the other 
main operating divisions. Assets include goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on consolidation. Liabilities include borrowings which are not specific to the other main operating 
divisions, further details of which can be found in note 12 Borrowings.

2  MAGs non-core property has been disclosed separately as discontinued operations, which was disposed by the Group on 7 August 2020. The ongoing post-sale disclosure reflects 
changes in conditional balances that have changed since the date of disposal. 

3 Sales between segments are at arm’s length.

4 Reflects the segment’s assets and liabilities which are external to the Group.
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3. ADJUSTED ITEMS

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2022 

£m

Year mended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Recorded in operating profit

Adjusted items – operating cost 6.0 121.7 141.2

Total adjusted items recorded in operating profit1 6.0 121.7 141.2

Adjusted items – finance cost (see note 4) 10.8 4.4 5.7

Total charge recorded in finance costs2 10.8 4.4 5.7

Total adjusted items recorded in operating profit from continuing 
operations 16.8 126.1  146.9 

Recorded in operating profit from discontinued operations

Adjusted items recorded in discontinued operations (0.7) (3.9) (5.1)

Total credit recorded in profit before tax from discontinued operations3 (0.7) (3.9) (5.1)

Total charge before tax 16.1 122.2 141.1

1 Adjusted items from continuing operations – operating income/(costs) 
The Group has recognised an overall cost of £6.0m in adjusted items for the six months ended 30 September 2023 (30 September 2022: income of £121.7m). A charge of £3.1m has 
been recognised in relation to an operational airport transformation scheme which is an initiative to improve the airport environment. 

Costs of £2.1m have been recognised in relation to the acquisition of ParkCloud Holdings Limited, further details can be found in note 9. During the period management have undertaken a 
review of certain assets, as a result of this review £0.8m of impairment been recognised. 

2 Adjusted items from continuing operations – finance costs 
An expense of £10.8m (30 September 2022 loss of: £4.4m) relating to finance costs arose during the period due to the change in estimate on the carrying value of shareholder loans of 
£11.4m (see note 4) and £0.3m expenditure on the bridge to bond facility, offset by finance income of £0.9m relating to an gilt lock entered into to partially hedge interest rate fluctuations 
(see note 4).

3 Adjusted items from discontinued operations

Discontinued operations’ adjusted items for the six months ended 30 September 2023 is income of £0.7m (30 September 2022: costs of £3.9m) relating to a further update to the 
estimated amounts to be recovered from escrow in relation to the sale of non-core property. The £0.5m profit on discontinued operations in the Income Statement includes £0.2m of tax 
attributable to profits in the period.

Interim Report 2023/24

Notes to the financial statements continued
for the six months ended 30 September 2023
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4. FINANCE COSTS

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2022 

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Interest receivable on deposits 2.3 2.2 5.6

Interest income on long-term lease receivable 0.3 1.2 1.4

Total finance income before adjusted items 2.6 3.4 7.0

Adjusted items 0.9 – –

Total finance income after adjusted items 3.5 3.4 7.0

Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts 1.9 7.7 10.9 

Interest payable on bonds 29.0 28.4 56.8 

Interest payable on other borrowings 60.1 55.8 115.0 

Interest cost on defined benefit pension schemes (2.0) (0.2) (0.5)

Interest cost on lease liabilities and receivables 13.3 11.9 23.8 

Capitalisation of borrowing costs (5.7) (1.8) (4.9)

Total finance costs before adjusted items 96.6 101.8 201.1 

Adjusted items 11.7 4.4 5.7 

Total finance costs after adjusted items 108.3 106.2 206.8 

The carrying value of the Group’s shareholder loan liabilities are calculated by management’s estimate of the future cash flows (see financial instruments 
note 15). As a result of MAG’s strategic finance response in 2020 and 2021, the payment of interest on the shareholder loans has been deferred until the 
Group is in compliance with its loan covenant requirements. Consequently, management’s estimate of the date that deferred interest will be repaid is an 
accounting estimate that will impact the quantification of the shareholder loan liability. Any changes to the timing of repayments, as outlined in the latest 
board-approved business plan, will result in a modification gain or loss which is recognised in the income statement at the time that the revision  
takes place. 

The quantum (but not timing) of repayments may change as a result of changes in underlying interest rates. Whilst such a change is not deemed to be a 
modification, the impact is included within adjusted finance costs.

The repayment profiles for deferred interest in these financial statements are assumed to be consistent with the FY23 business plan that was used as the 
basis for the calculation in the FY23 Annual Report. However, the increase in interest rates since the year end has increased the total amount of interest 
payable on deferred tranches. The interest rate revision has given rise to £11.4m of additional finance costs in the period, which has been classified within 
adjusted items.

Interest payable on other borrowings relates to the interest charge on the shareholder loans and excludes changes in the estimated carrying value of 
shareholder loans resulting from changes in underlying interest rates, or modification gains or loss

During the period the Group issued a £360.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond. Before issuing the bond the Group entered into a gilt lock 
arrangement to partially hedge interest rate fluctuations, this resulted in a gain of £0.9m which has been recognised in adjusted interest income as MAG 
elected not to apply hedge accounting. 

MAG capitalises borrowing costs in accordance with IAS 23. The increase in interest capitalisation to £5.7m (September 2022: £1.8m) reflects the 
continuation of works on the Group’s qualifying transformation projects.



MAHL
38

5. TAXATION

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2022 

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Current taxation

UK corporation tax on profits for the period 42.2 41.4 21.6 

Adjustment in respect of prior period – – (3.3)

Total current taxation 42.2 41.4 18.3 

Deferred taxation

Temporary differences arising in the year 9.2 1.6 (31.1)

Adjustment in respect of prior year – 0.8 (15.1)

Effect of change in rate of corporation tax – – (4.2)

Total ordinary deferred taxation 9.2 2.4 (50.4)

Total taxation charge/(credit)¹ 51.4 43.5 (32.1)

1 Includes a charge of £0.2m for adjusted items in the six months ended 30 September 2023 (30 September 2022: £nil).

Taxation on items charged to equity

Unaudited 
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited 
Six months ended 

30 September  
2022 

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Deferred taxation on remeasurement of retirement benefit liabilities (0.1) 12.9 39.5 

Effect of change in rate – – 7.0 

Deferred tax on foreign exchange movement – – 0.3 

Total taxation charge/(credit) (0.1) 12.9 46.8 

The current taxation charge for the period has been calculated based on the forecast underlying effective tax rate for the full year of 31%.

The deferred tax asset and liability amounts at 30 September 2023 have been calculated at 25% (30 September 2022: 25%).

The tax charge for the six months ended 30 September 2023 is £51.4m (30 September 2022: £43.5m). The effective tax rate for the period is higher 
than the actual corporation tax rate of 25%, predominantly due to the impact of non-deductible items.

The tax payment for the six months ended 30 September 2023 is £nil (30 September 2022: £nil).

Interim Report 2023/24

Notes to the financial statements continued
for the six months ended 30 September 2023
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Unaudited

Freehold 
land and 
property 

£m

Long 
leasehold 
property 

£m

Airport 
infrastructure 

£m

Plant, 
fixtures and 

equipment 
£m

Assets in the 
course of 

construction 
£m

Total 
£m

Cost

At 1 April 2023

Additions

Reclassification from assets in the course of construction

Reclassification to intangible assets

Impairment 

Disposals

178.3 

–

–

–

–

–

1,037.5 

–

0.5 

–

–

–

2,730.7 

–

21.3 

–

–

(0.8)

1,072.1 

–

10.8 

(11.5)

–

(0.8)

254.0 

133.5 

(32.6)

(2.8)

(0.8)

–

5,272.6 

133.5 

–

(14.3)

(0.8)

(1.6)
At 30 September 2023 178.3 1,038.0 2,751.2 1,070.6 351.3 5,389.4

Depreciation

At 1 April 2023 

Charge for the period

Reclassification to intangible assets

Depreciation on disposals

64.5 

–

–

–

444.9 

16.6 

–

–

958.4 

52.9 

–

(0.8)

697.6 

35.6 

(7.5)

(0.8)

–

–

–

–

2,165.4 

105.1

(7.5)

(1.6)
At 30 September 2023 64.5 461.5 1,010.5 724.9 – 2,261.4 

Carrying amount
At 30 September 2023 113.8 576.5 1,740.7 345.7 351.3 3,128.0

Carrying Amount 

At 31 March 2023 113.8 592.6 1772.3 374.5 254.0 3,107.2

At 30 September 2022 113.8 606.1 1,808.5 406.6 179.5 3,114.5 

The carrying amount of land not depreciated as at 30 September 2023 is £215.1m (31 March 2023: £215.1m).

Capitalised borrowing costs
During the six months ended 30 September 2023, borrowing costs of £5.7m were capitalised (30 September 2022: £1.8m), relating to borrowing 
costs incurred in FY24 to date. Capitalised borrowing costs were calculated on a monthly basis, by applying the rate of interest for the relevant month 
to expenditure incurred in that month. The average rate of interest applied in the six months to 30 September 2023 was 6.55% (30 September 2022: 
5.76%). These borrowing costs were capitalised due to the transformational capital investment project being undertaken at Manchester Airport.

Impairment review
During the six months ended 30 September 2023, management considered if there were any trigger events that would lead to a requirement to carry out 
an impairment review of the fixed assets. No such events were identified and as such, a full impairment review will be undertaken at the year end in line 
with IAS 36.

In the year ended 31 March 2023, management announced their decision to mothball Manchester T1 as a result of the launch of MAN-TP phase 2, 
which led to accelerated depreciation of the related assets. For the six months ended 30 September 2023, the additional depreciation incurred as a 
result of this decision was £6.0m. 

The carrying value of the property, plant and equipment for each CGU was assessed by management as part of the year end impairment exercise.

Assets in the course of construction
Assets in the course of construction have seen an increase in the six months to 30 September 2023 as result of MAN-TP phase 2 being progressed 
alongside the investment in future security requirements across the three airports.
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7. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

Unaudited

Land and  
buildings 

£m

Airport  
infrastructure 

£m

Plant, fixtures and 
equipment 

£m
Total 

£m

Cost

At 1 April 2023

Additions

Remeasurement

246.6 

6.5 

6.9 

218.8 

–

27.4 

18.4 

0.7 

–

483.8 

7.2 

34.3 

At 30 September 2023 260.0 246.2 19.1 525.3 

Depreciation

At 1 April 2023

Charge for the period

23.4 

4.2 

12.8 

1.9 

10.6 

1.4 

46.8 

7.5 

At 30 September 2023 27.6 14.7 12.0 54.3 

Carrying amount

At 30 September 2023 232.4 231.5 7.1 471.0 

Carrying amount

At 31 March 2023 223.2 206.0 7.8 437.0 

At 30 September 2022 218.5 207.7 9.4 435.6 

Key lease arrangements
Key lease arrangements are detailed in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Interim Report 2023/24
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8. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Unaudited Investment 
properties 

£m

Valuation

At 1 April 2023 155.1 

Revaluation 2.4

At 30 September 2023 157.5

Carrying Amount

At 30 September 2022 170.5 

The fair value of the Group’s commercial investment property portfolio at 30 September 2023 was based on a valuation carried out by JLL Ltd.

A valuation exercise was not carried out for the residential property portfolio at 30 September 2023, as the Directors do not believe that the movement 
from 31 March 2023 would be material. Fisher German LLP carried out the valuation of the Group’s residential property portfolio at 31 March 2023. 

The valuers are independent and have appropriate recognised professional qualifications, and recent experience in the locations and categories of 
the locations being valued. The valuations, which conform to International Valuation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of 
transaction prices for similar properties, land valuations and analysis of demand within the vicinity of the relevant properties. Under IAS 40, a fair value 
method has been adopted to revalue investment properties that become occupied by the Group and are transferred to property, plant and equipment.

The fair value measurement for all of MAG’s investment properties has been categorised as a Level 3 fair value based upon the inputs to the valuation 
technique used. The valuers have used the following bases of valuation:

Commercial property

Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs
Inter-relationship between key unobservable inputs and 
fair value measurements

• Investment property – the investment property valuations as having 
been carried out using the comparative and investment methods. 
The valuation of the commercial property has been assessed 
using analysis of appropriate comparable investment and rental 
transactions, together with evidence of demand within the vicinity 
of the property and taking into account size, location, terms and 
other factors. 

• Investment property The estimated fair value would increase if:

• Land under development – residual valuation approach estimates 
the Gross Development Value (GDV) of the proposed development 
(usually the market value using the investment method, and making 
an appropriate deduction for development costs, finance and 
developer’s profit).

• Other development land – valuation was based upon the net price 
per acre in the current market.

• Yields
• yields were lower

• Enterprise rental values
• enterprise rental values were higher
• occupancy rates were higher
• non-payment of rent was lower
• the risk adjusted discount rate was lower

The rental income earned by the Group from its commercial and residential investment properties amounted to £3.8m (30 September 2022: £5.2m).

Gains on sale and valuation of investment properties for the period ended 30 September 2023 was £2.4m (30 September 2022: £14.3m loss). £2.4m was 
attributable to gains on revaluation in the period (30 September 2022: £14.5m of losses), and there were £nil of gains on sales of investment properties in 
the six months (30 September 2022: £0.2m).
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9. ACQUISITION

Acquisition of ParkCloud Holdings Limited 
On 31 May 2023, MAG acquired 100% of the share capital of ParkCloud Holdings Limited, trading as ‘ParkVia’, a Manchester based ecommerce 
airport parking aggregator in the UK and EU market. Initial cash consideration of £8.4m was paid, with further contingent payments depending on 
continued performance of key management, and financial performance in the first year following acquisition. 

Assets acquired and liabilities assumed
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of ParkCloud Holdings Limited as at the date of acquisition were:

Unaudited
30 September 2023 

£m

Assets

Operator relationships (note 10)  3.4 

Technology-internally developed (note 10)  1.5 

Trade and other receivables  1.4 

Cash at bank and in hand  2.7 

Total identifiable assets on acquisition  9.0

Liabilities

Trade and other payables  (5.5)

Deferred tax liability  (1.2)

Total identifiable liabilities on acquisition (6.7)

Total identifiable net assets on acquisition 2.3

Goodwill arising on acquisition 6.1

Purchase consideration transferred  8.4 

Purchase consideration

Shares issued at fair value  8.4 

Total  8.4 

The acquisition date fair value of the trade receivables amounts to £1.4m and it is expected that the full contractual amounts can be collected.

The deferred tax liability comprises the tax effect of temporary differences between the fair value of acquired intangible assets and their tax base.

From the date of acquisition, ParkCloud Limited contributed £1.2m of revenue and £0.3m to profit before tax from continuing operations of the Group. 
These results are included within the CAVU operating segment.

The goodwill of £6.1m comprises the value of future operator relationships, route to market growth opportunities, brand, the value of the workforce 
and expected synergies expected from the acquisition. Due to the nature of the industry brand is not considered material to recognise as a separable 
intangible asset. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Analysis of cash flows on acquisition: 

Unaudited
30 September  

2023
£m

Transaction costs of the acquisition (included in cash flows from operating activities) (0.6)

Consideration paid to acquire the subsidiary, net of cash acquired (included in cash flows from investing activities) (5.7)

Net cash flow on acquisition (6.3)

Interim Report 2023/24

Notes to the financial statements continued
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9. ACQUISITION CONTINUED

Net cash flow on acquisition
Transaction costs of £0.6m were expensed and are included in adjusted operating expenditure.

Contingent payments based on future performance
As part of the purchase agreement of ParkCloud Holdings Limited, a contingent payment has been agreed. This has been considered in line with the 
requirements of IFRS 3 and has been deemed to be remuneration. The cost of the payment is being recognised in operating expense over the period to 
which the earn out relates.

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Unaudited

Goodwill
£m

Software costs
£m

Other intangible 
assets

£m
Total

£m

Cost

At 1 April 2023

Additions in relation to acquisition in the year

Additions

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (see note 6)

Foreign exchange differences

210.1 

6.1

–

–

0.5 

74.4 

1.5 

6.6

14.3 

–

76.6 

3.4 

0.2

–

0.2 

361.1 

11.0 

6.8

14.3 

0.7 

At 30 September 2023 216.7 96.8 80.4 393.9 

Amortisation

At 1 April 2023

Charge for the year

Reclassification from property, plant and equipment (see note 6)

Foreign exchange differences

–

–

–

–

32.3 

6.8 

7.5 

–

30.4 

2.5 

–

0.1 

62.7 

9.3 

7.5 

0.1 

At 30 September 2023 – 46.6 33.0 79.6 

Carrying amount

At 30 September 2023 216.7 50.2 47.4 314.3 

At 31 March 2023 210.1 42.1 46.2 298.4 

At 30 September 2022 214.4 38.9 47.2 300.5 

Goodwill
The brought forward goodwill total of £210.1m is attributable to the acquisition of London Stansted Airport (£166.3m) and the UK and US distribution 
companies acquired in 2019 and 2021, with balances of £4.5m and £39.3m respectively. Additions in the year of £6.1m relate to the acquisition of 
ParkCloud Holdings and its subsidiary ParkVia Limited. The goodwill relating to the acquisitions of the US distribution entities is denominated in US dollars 
and as a consequence of changes in the USD: GBP exchange rate in the period, the goodwill attributable to these entities in the period end accounts 
has increased by £0.5m from £39.3m to £39.8m

Other intangible assets
The other intangible assets total of £47.4m is attributable to Metrolink (£29.8m), airspace redesign (£4.6m), the acquisition of the UK distribution 
companies (£1.8m), the acquisition of the trade relationships of ParkCloud Holdings and ParkVia Limited (£3.4m) and the remaining £7.1m relates to the 
operator and trade names acquired in FY21 from airportparkingreservations.com LLC (APR), ParkSleepFly.com (PSF) and shuttlefinder.net (SF).

Impairment
A detailed impairment assessment was undertaken by management at 31 March 2023. For the six months to 30 September 2023, management 
considered if there were any trigger events that would require a full impairment assessment to be undertaken. No such events were identified, and 
consequently no impairment has been assessed for the half year.

https://airportparkingreservations.com/
http://www.shuttlefinder.net/
https://parksleepfly.com/
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11. BORROWINGS

Note

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 

2022 
£m

31 March  
2023 

£m

Overdrafts 12 101.0 134.9 105.2 

Bonds 13 359.5 – –

Current borrowings 460.5 134.9 105.2

Bank loans and overdrafts1 12 (3.9) 479.6 (3.7)

Bonds 13 1,437.1 1,438.9 1,439.8 

Other borrowings 14 1,155.8 1,122.1 1,132.0 

Non-current borrowings 2,589.0 3,040.6 2,568.1 

Borrowings are repayable as follows:

In one year or less, or on demand

Overdrafts 12 101.0 134.9 105.2 

Bonds 13 359.5 – –

460.5 134.9 105.2 

In more than one year, but no more than two years

Bonds 13 – 358.6 359.0 

Other borrowings 14 – 147.7 –

– 506.3 359.0 

In more than two years, but no more than five years

Bank loans 12 (3.9) 479.6 (3.7)

Other borrowings 14 112.8 125.4 119.8 

In more than five years – due other than by instalments

Bonds 13 1,437.1 1,080.3 1,080.8 

Other borrowings 14 1,043.0 849.0 1,012.2 

2,480.1 1,929.3 2,093.0 

Non-current borrowings 2,589.0 3,040.6 2,568.1 

Total borrowings 3,049.5 3,175.5 2,673.3 

1 Repayment of the bank loan amount is based upon the maturity of the RCF facility net of the RCF fees.

The Group issued a £360.0m publicly listed fixed rate secured bond on 20 September 2023 with a scheduled and legal maturity of 30 September 
2041. All proceeds from the issue of the bonds (net of certain issuance fees) were placed on deposit and will be used to repay the £360.0m bond 
maturing on 2 April 2024.

Details of the Group’s borrowings can be found in the Annual Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 March 2023.

Interim Report 2023/24
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12. BANK LOANS AND OVERDRAFTS

For the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 

2022 
£m

31 March 
2023 

£m

Bank overdrafts 101.0  134.9 105.2

Bank loans and overdrafts – current 101.0  134.9 105.2 

Secured Revolving Credit Facility

Less: unamortised debt issue costs1

–

(3.9)

 484.0 

 (4.4)

–

(3.7)

Bank loans and overdrafts – non-current (3.9)  479.6 (3.7)

Bank loans and overdrafts – Total 97.1  614.5 101.5 

1 Issue costs arising in relation to obtaining finance are amortised over the duration of the financing as part of the effective interest rate.

At 30 September 2023, the Group had £nil (30 September 2022: £484.0m) undrawn committed borrowing facilities in respect of which all conditions 
precedent had been met at that date. The undrawn committed borrowing facilities consist of a £500.0m Secured Revolving Credit Facility (£nil drawn as 
at 30 September 2023) less certain carve-outs in respect of ancillary facilities of £16.0m. The Group also had access to £10.0m of overdraft facilities. 

Interest on the Secured Revolving Credit Facility is linked to SONIA plus a margin. See note 15 for further information on financial liabilities, and note 11 
for maturity analysis.

13. BONDS

For the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 

2022 
£m

31 March 
2023 

£m

Repayable other than by instalments

MAG bond 4.125% £360.0m due 2024 360.0 360.0 360.0 

MAG bond 4.75% £450.0m due 2034 450.0 450.0 450.0 

MAG bond 2.875% £300.0m due 2039 300.0 300.0 300.0 

M.A.G bond 6.125% £360.0 million due 2041 360.0 – –

MAG bond 2.875% £350.0m due 2044 350.0 350.0 350.0 

Less: discount on issue (10.6) (9.5) (9.3)

Less: unamortised debt issue costs (12.8) (11.6) (10.9)

1,796.6 1,438.9 1,439.8 

Current 359.5 – –

Non-current 1,437.1 1,438.9 1,439.8

See note 15 for further information on financial liabilities, and note 11 for maturity analysis.
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14. OTHER BORROWINGS

For the six months ended 30 September 2023

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 

2022 
£m

31 March 
2023 

£m

Repayable other than by instalments

Shareholders loan at an interest rate of 12% expiring on 9 February 2055 332.9  323.0 324.9 

Shareholders loan at an interest rate of 10% expiring on 30 September 2056  226.1  219.1 221.3 

Shareholders loan at an interest rate of 10% expiring on 30 September 2057 226.1  219.1 221.3 

Shareholders loan at an interest rate of 10% expiring on 30 September 2058 371.1  361.3 364.9 

Less: unamortised debt issue costs  (0.4) (0.4) (0.4)

1,155.8 1,122.1 1,450.7 

The shareholders loans are unsecured. Further detail on the shareholder loans can be found in note 4.

See note 15 for further information on financial liabilities, and note 11 for maturity analysis.

15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial liabilities
(a) Interest rate profile of financial liabilities

The following table provides a comparison, by category, of the carrying amounts and the fair values of the Group’s key financial instruments as at 30 
September 2023, 30 September 2022 and 31 March 2023. Fair value is defined as the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged 
in an arm’s length transaction between informed and willing parties, other than in a forced of liquidation sale, and excludes accrued interest. Where 
available, market values have been used to determine fair values. Where market values are not available, fair values have been calculated by 
discounting expected cash flows at prevailing interest rates.

Unaudited Unaudited

30 September 
2023 

Carrying amount 
£m

30 September 
2023 

Fair value 
£m

30 September 
2022 

Carrying amount 
£m

30 September 
2022 

Fair value 
£m

31 March  
2023 

Carrying amount 
£m

31 March  
2023 

Fair value 
£m

Financial liabilities:

Instruments held at amortised cost

Bank loans and overdrafts

Trade payables

Bonds

Other borrowings

(97.1)

(52.0)

(1,796.6)

(1,155.8)

(97.1)

(52.0)

(1,526.2)

(1,001.8)

(614.5)

(42.7)

(1,438.9)

(1,122.1)

(614.5)

(42.7)

(1,110.4)

(823.5)

(101.5)

(53.9)

(1,439.8)

(1,132.0)

(101.5)

(53.9)

(1,237.1)

(1,014.6)

(3,101.5) (2,677.1) (3,218.2) (2,591.1) (2,727.2) (2,407.1)

Financial assets:

Instruments held at amortised cost

Cash at bank and in hand

Trade receivables

Other assets held at fair value

Investment properties

Other long-term assets

611.7

88.5

157.5

10.1

611.7

88.5

157.5

10.1

761.7 

77.0 

170.5 

– 

761.7 

77.0 

170.5 

– 

172.8 

53.8 

155.1 

10.1 

172.8 

53.8 

155.1 

10.1 

867.8 867.8 1,009.2 1,009.2 391.8 391.8 

Net financial liabilities (2,233.7) (1,809.3) (2,209.0) (1,581.9) (2,335.4) (2,015.3)

Interim Report 2023/24
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15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Fair value hierarchy
Financial instruments carried at fair value are required to be measured by reference to the following levels:

• Level 1 – quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;

• Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e. derived from prices); and

• Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

Summary of methods and assumptions used for determining fair values

Financial instrument Level Estimate basis

Bonds 1 The fair value of publicly listed bonds is based on market prices or, if not available, brokers’ quotes. The carrying 
value is net of unamortised issue costs.

Bank loans 2 The fair value of the bank loans approximates to the carrying value given their floating rate basis and interest 
setting frequency. The carrying value is net of unamortised issue costs.

Other borrowings 2 The fair value of other borrowings is based on a discounted cash flow methodology that reflects movements in 
underlying market rates.

Cash at bank and in hand 2 The fair value of cash at bank and in hand approximates to the carrying value as all deposits have same day access.

Trade receivables and payables 2 The fair value of trade receivables and trade payables approximates to the carrying value given their short-term nature.

Investment properties 3* The fair values of investment properties are based on an income capitalisation methodology.

* Refer to note 8 for valuation techniques applied.

(b) Interest rate profile of financial liabilities
The interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 30 September 2023 was as follows:

Unaudited
30 September  

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September  

2022 
£m

Fixed rate financial liabilities (2,952.4) (2,561.0)

Floating rate financial liabilities (97.1) (614.5)

(3,049.5) (3,175.5)

The Revolving Credit Facility bears an interest rate based on SONIA between one week and six months, plus a credit margin. The overdrafts bear interest 
at Bank of England Base Rate, plus a credit margin.

The Group has prepared an analysis of the impact of potential, likely changes in interest rates.

The result of an increase in interest rates of 1% per annum would be to (decrease)/increase income and equity for the year by the following amounts:

Unaudited
30 September  

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September  

2022 
£m

Impact on income statement 5.1 1.4

5.1 1.4
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16. LEASE LIABILITIES

Unaudited

For the six months ended 30 September 2023

Land and  
buildings

£m

Airport 
infrastructure

£m

Plant, fixtures and 
equipment

£m
Total

£m

Cost

At 1 April 2023 234.7 216.5 7.0 458.2 

Additions 6.5 – – 6.5 

Foreign exchange movement 0.2 – – 0.2 

Interest charge for the period 6.9 6.3 0.1 13.3 

Payments of liabilities (11.3) (6.7) (1.1) (19.1)

Remeasurement 6.9 27.4 – 34.3 

At 30 September 2023 243.9 243.5 6.0 493.4 

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities – discounted

Unaudited

Land and 
buildings

£m

Airport 
infrastructure

£m

Plant, 
fixtures and 

equipment
£m

Total
£m

Within 1 year

Within 2 to 5 years

Over 5 years

8.7 

29.6 

205.6 

0.6 

2.9 

240.0 

2.0 

4.0 

–

11.3 

36.5 

445.6 

Total 243.9 243.5 6.0 493.4 

Maturity analysis of lease liabilities – undiscounted
The table below shows the gross undiscounted contractual cash outflows in relation to the Group’s lease liabilities as at 30 September 2023 to the 
contract maturity date.

Unaudited

Land and 
 buildings

£m

Airport 
infrastructure

£m

Plant, fixtures and 
equipment

£m
Total

£m

In one year or less, or on demand

In more than one year, but not more than two years

In more than two years but not more than five years

In more than five years

21.4 

20.8 

54.6 

724.4 

13.1 

13.1 

39.4 

715.4 

2.3 

1.8 

2.4 

–

36.8 

35.7 

96.4 

1,439.8 

Total 821.2 781.0 6.5 1,608.7 

The expense relating to variable lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities is £2.7m (2022: £0.7m). Expenses relating to both 
short-term leases and low-value leases are £nil (2022: £nil).

Interim Report 2023/24
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 2022 

£m

31 March  
2023 

£m

Balance in schemes at the start of the period 86.6 22.1 22.1

Movement in period:

Current service cost and administration expenses recognised in income statement (0.7) (0.8) (1.1)

Contributions 0.2 3.9 7.4

Settlements – (119.7) (119.7)

Past service costs and curtailments recognised in the income statement – – –

Net income/(expense) recognised in the income statement (after allowing for the impact of 
the asset ceiling) 2.0 0.2 0.5 

Total remeasurements in the statement of comprehensive income (2.0) 167.8 177.4 

Balance in schemes at the end of the period 86.1 73.5 86.6 

The total of £86.1m shows the net position across the Group, however the surplus in STAL and EMIA (£90.0m in total) cannot be offset against the deficit 
of the GMPF and AVPS (£3.9m in total), so these are presented separately in the statement of financial position at year-end.

During the period the Group operated defined benefit pension schemes, the main schemes were as follows:

• M.A.G (STAL) Pension Scheme.

• Airport Ventures Pension Scheme (AVPS).

• The Greater Manchester Pension Fund (unfunded arrangement only) (GMPF).

• EMIA Pension Scheme (EMIA).

These are referred to collectively, as the ‘schemes’.

STAL has a surplus of £79.1m (30 September 2022: £66.5m) and EMIA has a surplus of £10.9m (30 September 2022: £10.9m) which would be in the 
form of refunds. The Group’s assessment is that it has a right to a refund of surplus under the IFRIC 14 requirements based on the scheme rules. Since the 
schemes are closed to future accrual, the surplus can only be recognised as a right to refund.

The AVPS has a deficit of £0.3m (30 September 2022: nil) and GMPF has a deficit of £3.6m (30 September 2022: £3.9m deficit).

E.M.I.A. Pension Scheme contains Level 3 assets where valuation is not based upon observable market data. The valuations, which conform to International 
Valuation Standards, were arrived at by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar assets and discounted cash flow methods.

The valuation techniques applied to the Level 3 assets within the Group’s pension schemes are: EMIA annuities (to discharge liability relating to specific 
scheme members) – valued at the corresponding amount of the relevant scheme member’s scheme obligation.

Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below:

Six months ended  
30 September  

2023 

0.5% p.a. increase in real discount rate (12.8) 

0.5% p.a. decrease in real discount rate  14.3 

0.5% p.a. increase in RPI inflation*  11.4 

0.5% p.a. decrease in RPI inflation* (11.3)

1 yr increase in life expectancy  4.0 

1 yr decrease in life expectancy (4.0)

* Including other inflation linked assumptions such as CPI inflation and pension increases. Please note that a 0.5% p.a. increase in RPI may have a lower impact due to rounding of the impacts 
here and the effect of the caps and floors on pension increases.
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18. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The ultimate parent entity is Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, a company registered in England and Wales. The ultimate controlling entity is 
Manchester Airports Holdings Limited.

Transactions involving the Council of the City of Manchester and the other council shareholders
The Council of the City of Manchester (MCC) is a related party to Manchester Airports Holdings Limited, as MCC owns 35.5% of the share capital of  
the Company.

As at 30 September 2023 the amount of loans outstanding owed to MCC by the Group was £313.9m (31 March 2023: £313.9m). Manchester  
Airport Finance Holdings Limited made loan repayments of £nil (2022: £nil) to MCC during the year and paid interest of £16.5m  
(31 March 2023: £17.4m). 

As at 30 September 2023 the amount of loans outstanding owed to the other nine councils (each of which is a related party to Manchester Airports 
Holdings Limited by virtue of its shareholding) by the Group was £267.9m (31 March 2023: £267.9m). Manchester Airport Finance Holdings Limited 
made loan repayments of £nil (31 March 2023: £nil) to the other nine councils during the year and paid interest of £14.2m (31 March 2023: £14.9m).

Interest during the year has been accrued on the shareholder loans to the value of £19.6m (31 March 2023: £19.3m) for MCC and £16.8m (31 March 
2023: £16.7m) for the other nine councils. The cumulative interest accrual on the shareholder loans is £99.1m as at 30 September 2023 (31 March 
2023: £96.1m) for MCC and £85.5m (31 March 2023: £82.9m) for the other nine councils.

Included in external charges are charges for rent and rates amounting to £9.7m (31 March 2023: £37.3m) and other sundry charges of £0.1m (31 
March 2023: £0.1m). The majority of these amounts are due to MCC. The remainder are collected by MCC and distributed to other local authorities.

Transactions involving IFM
IFM Global Infrastructure Fund (which is advised by IFM Investors Pty Ltd) (“IFM”), through its subsidiary, is a related party to Manchester Airports 
Holdings Limited as IFM owns 35.5% of the share capital of the Company. During the year, the Group was party to the following transactions with IFM.

As at 30 September 2023, the amount of loans outstanding owed to IFM by the Group was £320.1m (31 March 2023: £320.1m). Manchester  
Airport Finance Holdings Limited made loan repayments of £nil (31March 2023: £nil) to IFM during the year and paid interest of £16.9m  
(31 March 2023: £17.8m).

Interest during the year has been accrued on the shareholder loans to the value of £20.0m (31 March 2023: £19.7m). The cumulative interest accrual  
on the loan as at 30 September 2023 is £101.6m (31 March 2023: £98.4m).

Transactions involving associate (Airport City Limited Partnership)
As at 30 September 2023, the amounts owing were £nil (31 March 2023: £nil) and amounts owed were £nil (31 March 2023: £nil).

During the period, transactions amounting to £0.7m (31 March 2023: £6.7m) were made with MAG’s associate. As part of its investment in Airport City, 
the Group has agreed to pay an equity contribution up to a maximum of £12.0m if required, of which £3.6m was drawn down at 30 September 2023 
(31 March 2023: £3.4m).

Transactions involving other parties
As at 30 September 2023, the amounts owing to Mott MacDonald were £0.4m (31 March 2023: £nil), amounts owed were £nil (31 March 2023: 
£nil) and transactions during the year amounted to £1.5m (31 March 2023: £4.5m).

As at 30 September 2023, the amounts owing to Manchester Central Convention Complex Ltd were £nil (31 March 2023: £nil), amounts owed were 
£nil (31 March 2023: £nil) and transactions during the year amounted to £0.2m of purchases and £0.4m in sales (31 March 2023: £1.0m).

Interim Report 2023/24

Notes to the financial statements continued
for the six months ended 30 September 2023
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19. RECONCILIATION OF NET CASH FLOW TO MOVEMENT IN NET DEBT

Unaudited

At 1 April  
2023 

£m
Cash flow 

£m

Other non-cash 
movements 

£m

At 30 September  
2023 

£m

Cash at bank and in hand 172.8 438.9 – 611.7 

Cash and cash equivalents disclosed in the statement of 
financial position 172.8 438.9 – 611.7 

Overdrafts (105.2) 4.2 – (101.0)

Bonds due <1 year – – (359.5) (359.5)

Current debt (105.2) 4.2 (359.5) (460.5)

Non-current debt (2,568.1) 50.6 (71.5) (2,589.0)

Net debt (2,500.5) 493.7 (431.0) (2,437.8)

IFRS 16 

Unaudited

At 1 April 
2023 

£m
Cash flow 

£m

Other non-cash 
movements 

£m

At 30 September 
2023 

£m

Current debt (9.4) – (1.9) (11.3)

Non-current debt (448.8) 19.1 (52.4) (482.1)

(458.2) 19.1 (54.3) (493.4)

Net debt (including IFRS 16) (2,958.7) 512.8 (485.3) (2,931.2)

20. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Unaudited
30 September 

2023 
£m

Unaudited
30 September 

2022 
£m

31 March 
2023 

£m

Capital expenditure that has been contracted for but has not been provided for 
in the financial statements 162.1 60.0 129.3 

Capital commitments have increased substantially as a result of implementation of future security requirements across the three airports, alongside the 
continuation of Phase 2 of the Manchester terminal 2 transformation programme.

The Group has performance bonds and other items arising in the normal course of business amounting to £3.0m at 30 September 2023 (31 March 
2022: £3.0m). As part of its investment in Airport City the Group has agreed to pay an equity contribution up to a maximum of £12.0m if required.
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These APMs are primarily used to:

• Provide management with a basis of planning and assessing Group performance;

• Set levels of management performance based remuneration;

• Calculate covenant compliance; and 

• Explain Group performance to MAG’s investor base.

ADJUSTED ITEMS

Many of the Group’s APMs are measures prior to the impact of adjusted items.

Applied consistently over time, adjusted items are items of income and expense that, because of their size, unusual nature, or frequency of the events 
giving rise to them, merit separate presentation, as these are incremental and to allow an understanding of the Group’s underlying financial performance 
from its trading activities. Such items include:

• Impairment of assets
Impairment charges related to non-current assets are non-cash items and tend to be significant in size. The presentation of these as adjusted items 
further enhances the understanding of the ongoing performance of the Group. Impairments of property, intangible assets and other tangible fixed 
assets are included in adjusted items if related to a fundamental transformation project or if significant in size. Other impairments are included in 
underlying results.

• Major reorganisation of businesses and costs associated with acquisitions
Restructuring costs are classified as adjusted items if they relate to a fundamental change in the organisational structure of the Group, or a 
fundamental change in the operating model of a business within the Group. Costs may include redundancy, property closure costs and consultancy 
costs, which are significant in size and will not be incurred under the ongoing structure or operating model of the Group. All costs related to the 
acquisition of businesses will be classified as ‘adjusted’.

• Costs associated with the modification or significant estimate changes of financial instruments, close out of previous 
financing arrangements upon refinancing 
Costs associated with the refinancing and changes to debt facility agreements during the current and prior year are included within adjusted items 
as they are significant in size, but do not form part of the underlying trading activities.

• Other specific items
Other specific items are recorded in adjusted items where they do not form part of the underlying trading activities of the Group, in order to enhance 
the understanding of the financial performance of the Group.
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TABLE OF DEFINITIONS FOR ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES (APMS) USED BY MAG

An explanation of the relevance of each APM, and their limitations, is presented in the table below.

Closest Equivalent 
Statutory Measure

APM Purpose Definition

Income statement measures

Adjusted EBITDA Operating profit The Group’s adjusted EBITDA Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
measure is consistent with the and amortisation prior to the impact of 
way that Executive Management adjusted items.
and the Board assess the Group’s 

Reconciled to GAAP from result from financial performance.
operations measured in accordance with IFRS 

Additionally, it is a key metric excluding:

used by the investor community Depreciation and amortisation (note 4), 

to assess performance of the and;

Group’s operations.

• 

The impact of adjusted items (note 3).• 

Adjusted operating profit Operating profit Adjusted result from operations is a Operating profit/(loss) measured in 
measure of the GAAP metric whilst accordance with IFRS excluding the impact of 
adjusting for adjusted items. adjusted items (note 3).

Cash flow measures

Adjusted cash generated Net cash from operating This is a measure of the Group’s Net cash from operating activities before the 
from operations activities cash generation from operation cash impact of adjusted items.

and working capital efficiency 
after adjusting for the impact of 
adjusted items.

Other measures

Net Debt Borrowings Net debt is a prominent metric Borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
used by credit rating agencies and The measure excludes financial lease liabilities 
investors to assess the strength of a calculated under IFRS 16.
company’s balance sheet.

Where the Annual Report references ‘Net 
Debt (including IFRS 16)’ this aggregates the 
Net Debt amount and the carrying value of 
lease liabilities.

Net Senior Debt Borrowings Net Senior Debt is used in Comprising the Group’s secured funding 
the calculation of the Group’s arrangements (bonds and drawndown RCF) 
leverage covenant. less cash and cash equivalents.

Reconciled to GAAP measure ‘Borrowings’ 
(by excluding the carrying value of 
shareholder loans), less cash and cash 
equivalents.

The definitions of APMs are consistent with the year ended 31 March 2023.



MAHL
Interim Report 2023/2454

The following analysis provides a reconciliation of each APM to their nearest equivalent statutory measure.

RECONCILIATION OF APMS TO STATUTORY MEASURES

Other information continued

Note

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2023 

£m

Unaudited  
Six months ended 

30 September  
2022 

£m

Year ended 
31 March  

2023 
£m

Adjusted operating profit 224.2 144.5 169.8

Adjusted items deducted to arrive at APM:

Extinguishment of the deferred debt agreement – – (119.7)

Impairment of assets, asset write-downs and depreciation – – (15.8)

Major reorganisation of businesses and transformation 3 (0.8) (1.8) (4.1)

Legal and other items 3 (5.2) (119.9) (1.6)

(6.0) (121.7) (141.2)

Operating profit 218.2 22.8 28.6

Operating profit before adjusted items 224.2 144.5 169.8

Add back: Depreciation and amortisation 6,10 121.9 116.5 242.2

Adjusted EBITDA 346.1 261.0 412.0

Cash generated from continuing operations 310.4 286.2 450.4

Total adjusted items in results for continued operations before tax (16.8) (126.1) 146.9

(16.8) (126.1) 146.9

Add back/(deduct) non-cash adjusted items:

Shareholder loan adjustment 4 11.4 4.4 5.7

Impairment of property, plant and equipment 0.8 – 15.9

Working capital movements, relating to adjusted items 1.5 – 1.0

Net finance income (0.6) – –

Non-cash pension settlement loss – 119.7 119.7

Non-cash adjusted items: 13.1 124.1 142.3

Cash impact of adjusted items to be added back (3.7) (2.0) 4.6

Adjusted cash generated from operations 314.1 288.2 455.0

Total cash and cash equivalents (including overdrafts) 510.7 626.8 67.6

Current borrowings 11 (359.5) – –

Non-current debt 11 (2,589.0) (3,040.6) (2,568.1)

Net Debt (excluding IFRS 16) (2,437.8) (2,413.8) 2,500.5

Cash at bank and in hand 19 611.7 761.7 172.8

Overdraft 12 (101.0) (134.9) (105.2)

Net cash 510.7 626.8 67.6
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